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The aim of this report is to inform our customers, 

community and stakeholders about our organisation, 

its strategic priorities, performance and governance 

for the FY17 financial year. 

Consistent with Southern Ports’ objectives of 

sustainability and responsible environmental 

management, only a limited number of hard copies 

of this Annual Report have been printed. An online 

version is available for download on our website at 

www.southernports.com.au

 

Robert Cole
Chairman

In accordance with Section 68 and clauses 34 and 35 of Schedule 5 of 
the Port Authorities Act 1999, I hereby submit for your information and 
presentation to Parliament, the Annual Report of Southern Ports for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2017.

To the Hon Rita Saffioti
Minister for Transport
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HIGHLIGHTS
Overview
Trade and shipping
Our key performance indicators
Our people and impact



OVERVIEW 
MILESTONES

PORTS USERS SAVED  
$2 MILLION THANKS TO  
NEW TOWAGE TENDER
Page 64

MORE THAN 80 COMMUNITY 
ORGANISATIONS AND EVENTS 
RECEIVED SPONSORSHIP
Page 70

RECORD TRADE OF 
37.3 MILLION TONNES
Page 13

0∙5 PER CENT INCREASE 
IN PORT CHARGES 
ANNOUNCED FOR FY18
Page 56

FACILITATED EXPORT OF 
RECORD GRAIN HARVEST
Page 40
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NEW SPODUMENE, COPPER 
AND NICKEL TRADE 
IN ESPERANCE
Page 46

ALBANY PASSED 
5 MILLION TONNES 
FOR THE FIRST TIME
Page 40

CORPORATE REPUTATION 
IMPROVED TO ABOVE 
NATIONAL AVERAGE
Page 62

27 CRUISE SHIP VISITS
Page 38

RECORDABLE AND LOST 
TIME INJURY TARGETS MET
Page 54
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Bunbury Esperance

Albany

30.1%
Iron Ore [E]

29.3%
Alumina [E]

16.5%
Grain [E]

Iron Ore [E] 

Alumina [E]

Grain [E] 

Woodchips [E]

Caustic Soda [I]

Sulphur [E]

Mineral Sands [E+I]

Spodumene [E]

Silica Sand [E]

Other [E+I]
9.4% Woodchips [E]

3.6% Caustic Soda [I]

1.1% Sulphur [E]

1.7% Spodumene [E]

1.3% Silica Sand [E]

5.6% Other [E+I]

3.4% Mineral Sands [E+I]

Bunbury
Per cent of trade 
by Commodity

65.4%
Alumina [E]

1.6% Grain [E]

9.2%
Woodchips [E]

8.1%
Caustic Soda [I]

3.5%
Spodumene [E]

7.6% Mineral Sands [E+I]

1.6%
Silica Sand [E+I]

2.9%
Other [E+I]

Albany
Per cent of trade 
by Commodity

34.3%
Woodchips [E]

4.2% Other [E+I]

57.0%
Grain [E]

4.5% Silica Sand [E]

Esperance
Per cent of trade 
by Commodity

72.5%
Iron Ore [E]

19.1%
Grain [E]

1.3% Woodchips [E]

0.4% Spodumene [E] 4.1% Other [E+I]
2.6% Sulphur [I]

I = Imports

E = Exports

TRADE AND SHIPPING
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Trade at Southern Ports further diversified in FY17 with 

the proportion of alumina and iron ore dropping from a 

total of 62.2 per cent of all trade in FY16 to 59.4 per cent. 

The change reflected a 15.2 per cent increase in woodchip 

exports which was the result of confirming new trade out  

of Esperance which began in late FY16, and facilitating 

record grain exports.

Global demand for lithium drove export of spodumene 

which soared more than 40 per cent to 634,000 tonnes and 

increased from 1.2 per cent of total trade to 1.7 per cent. 

Spodumene from world-class pegmatite producer Talison 

Lithium’s Greenbushes operation hit records through 

Bunbury, and Esperance facilitated new export from 

Galaxy Resource’s Mt Cattlin mine near Ravensthorpe.

2016 2017

Tonnage Imports

34,471,402 tonnes 
3.4% up 
1,145,539 tonnes2016 2017

Tonnage Exports

2016 2017

Ship Visits

2016 2017

IRON ORE EXPORTS 

Down 4.2% or 
502,226 tonnes

2016 2017

NICKEL EXPORTS

Down 43% or 
76,994 tonnes

2016 2017

MINERAL SANDS IMPORTS

Down 11% or 
40,193 tonnes

Top three decreases by volumeTop three increases by volume

2016 2017

2016 2017

2016 2017

2,860,214 tonnes 
2∙75% up 
76,645 tonnes

841 visits. Up by 57visits, or 7.2%

SPODUMENE EXPORTS 

Up 41.1% or 
184,904 tonnes

WOODCHIP EXPORTS 
Up 15.2% or 
463,207 tonnes

GRAIN EXPORTS

Up 14.9% or 
800,337 tonnes
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SOUTHERN PORTS MET OR EXCEEDED 
85 PER CENT ITS KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS FOR FY17.
Strong trade particularly in grain and woodchips 

underpinned a solid financial result, resulting in 

Southern Ports exceeding its rate of return target set by 

the shareholder and the target growth rate in vessels. No 

workplace agreements expired during the financial year 

meaning there was no industrial action.

SAFETY, ENVIRONMENTAL AND 
COMMUNITY
During FY17, Southern Ports harmonised the 

classification of incidents across its three ports. In 

addition, Southern Ports decided to report all incidents 

significant or higher. Based on this harmonised definition, 

the FY16 actual number of significant and major incidents 

was 55 and the actual number for FY17 is 68.

During the year, Southern Ports also included restricted 

work injuries within its reported injuries.

The increases in incidents and injuries are due to a 

change in our safety culture which encourages reporting 

and investigation. 

Substantiated community complaints were tracked on 

a site-by-site basis. Albany recorded no substantiated 

complaints and both Esperance and Bunbury recorded 

three, with the latter having another three under 

investigation.

SERVICE DELIVERY AND PORT CAPACITY
Both Albany and Esperance had full draft available 

for the duration of the year and all three ports met or 

improved on targets set for vessel turnaround times 

which was a great achievement in the context of a  

7.2 per cent increase in shipping at the ports and more 

than 10 per cent in Albany.

On 11 November 2016 the maximum draft of arriving 

vessels in Bunbury’s shipping channel was reduced by 

10cm to 11.5m due to channel siltation. It was returned 

to 11.6m on 1 May 2017 after a successful three-week 

dredge campaign. Shipping access was retained 

throughout the 170 day period and no ships were 

prevented from berthing at the Port.

OUR KEY  
PERFORMANCE  
INDICATORS10

H
IG

H
LI

G
H

TS



Strategic driver KPI Actual Target

Safety:  
Environmental 
& Community

Safety – Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate 5.0 11.0 

Safety – Total Recordable Injury Rate 14.9 15.5 

Safety and Environment – Major Incidents 68 27 O

Substantiated community complaints 6 11 
Financial & 
Economic

Rate of Return on Assets 10.2% 9.7% 

Earnings before interest and tax margin 29.8% 23.6% 
Service delivery 
and port capacity

Growth rate vs prior year – vessels – Albany 10.1% (19.6%) 

Growth rate vs prior year – vessels – Bunbury 7.0% (6.4%) 

Growth rate vs prior year – vessels – Esperance 5.7% (7.0%) 

Growth rate vs prior year – tonnes – Albany 11.0% (10.4%) 

Growth rate vs prior year – tonnes – Bunbury 2.9% (2.4%) 

Growth rate vs prior year – tonnes – Esperance 3.1% 0.8% 

Full draft availability – Albany 100% 98% 

Full draft availability – Bunbury 53% 98% O

Full draft availability – Esperance 100% 98% 

Vessel Turnaround Time – Albany (hours) 60 60-65 

Vessel Turnaround Time – Bunbury (hours) 62 60-65 

Vessel Turnaround Time – Esperance (hours) 62 60-65 
People Total berth hour lost due to Southern Ports industrial 

disputes 0 0 
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68.7% 
Esperance

14.7% 
Bunbury

10.3% 
Albany

154

23

33

16

7.1%  
Perth
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OUR PEOPLE

Of Southern Ports 224 staff, more than 90% work on 
site at Albany, Bunbury and Esperance. More than 40 
staff have accountability across the three ports which, 
in many cases, has provided new career opportunities.

Southern Ports provides safe, long-term employment 
that supports the communities in which our staff live 
and work.

REGIONAL 
STAFF LOCATIONS



OUR IMPACT

400,000km2

The size of the catchment is connected to 
global markets through Southern Ports

$9.75 billion
Value of Southern Ports total trade  
to the WA economy

12,000
Trade jobs supported in regional WA

37.3 million tonnes
Total tonnes of trade through 
Southern Ports

Diversity
After more than 100 years in operation,  
our Southern Ports has diversified to support 
mining, forestry and agricultural trade

SOUTHERN PORTS ANNUAL REPORT 2017SOUTHERN PORTS ANNUAL REPORT 2017



Woodchip carrier DAIO AUSTRAL  

in port at Bunbury
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CHAIRMAN REPORT

I  have now completed my  
first year as Chair at Southern 

Ports and am pleased to provide 
this report on its activities, 
performance, milestones and 
financial statements for the  
year ended 30 June 2017.
 

I am delighted to report Southern Ports delivered a 

record trade result of 37.3 million tonnes in FY17, up 

three per cent from the prior financial year. This overall 

result was underpinned by record results in each of our 

three ports. Significantly, a one per cent decrease in total 

revenue was more than offset by a decline in operating 

costs per tonne, resulting in another solid profit result 

for FY17, and an improvement on the prior financial year.

The strong trade result was principally driven by a 

record grain harvest and strong demand for woodchip, 

aided by some improvement in key commodity markets, 

although the overall economic environment continued to 

be challenging. 

Despite the challenging environment, the team at 

Southern Ports made good progress in FY17 in 

facilitating new trade including the return of bulk 

commodities from Berth 2 in Esperance, being 

spodumene; and nickel and copper concentrate exports. 

Private investment in ship loading technologies both 

in Esperance and Bunbury also improved efficiency of 

operations for customers.

Robert Cole, Chairman
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Good progress was also made in organisational 

improvement, starting with the roll-out and promotion 

of a refreshed set of values, as the foundation for a 

unified and cohesive culture, consistent decision-

making and a better working environment.  Changes to 

the organisational structure were also completed, with 

the establishment of a mixture of port-specific and 

cross-organisation teams, while ensuring members 

of the executive team continue to be located at each 

of our ports. Examples of key regional roles include 

a single Harbour Master based in Albany who leads a 

cross-organisational marine team, a Chief Financial 

Officer based in Bunbury and a General Manager 

based in Esperance responsible for Southern Ports 

assets and Esperance operations. Creating cross-

organisational teams, such as the Marine team and 

our Health, Safety, Environment and Security team, 

has improved and will continue to improve knowledge-

sharing, help find synergies across the three ports, 

and provide opportunities for staff to move from one 

location to another.

Continued process and capability improvements made 

during the year, including a single payroll system, a 

single chart of accounts and improved commercial 

capacity, have further strengthened the organisation.

At Southern Ports, safety is paramount. We strive to 

provide a safe working environment and together with 

Management, Directors are committed to reducing 

injuries and growing the skills and awareness of staff 

to achieve a zero-injury rate.

Continued support from each of the communities in 

which we operate is also critically important to Southern 

Ports, and I would like to thank the members of each of 

our Community Consultation Committees (CCCs) who 

have brought to the attention of the Board local and 

current issues of interest to them. Each CCC is regularly 

attended by a Director, reflecting the importance of these 

committees to our licence to operate.

During FY17, Directors opted to meet at each port twice, 

meaning every second Board meeting has been held in 

the regions, and we will continue to do so to ensure we 

are present in, and accountable to, the regions in which 

Southern Ports operates. 

At the close of this record year, which has involved a 

lot of organisational change, I express my gratitude 

and appreciation for the commitment and professional 

contribution of my fellow Directors and for the dedication 

and hard work of all the staff at Southern Ports.

Finally, on behalf of staff and the Board of Southern 

Ports we offer our condolences to the family and friends 

of immediate past chairman Roger Hussey, who sadly 

passed-away in July this year.
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During its third financial year, 
Southern Ports achieved 

several milestones including 
securing new trade, facility 
infrastructure upgrades and 
a focus on building positive 
relationships with key 
stakeholders.
Staff are to be commended for their commitment to 

reporting incidents and we will continue our journey 

towards an injury-free workplace by investing in training 

and encouraging staff to take accountability for their 

safety and the safety of those around them. Despite our 

commitment to prevent all injuries and incidents, six 

members of staff were injured resulting in two lost time 

injuries.

Southern Ports commissioned staff and stakeholder 

surveys, the results of which reinforced our mission 

to facilitate safe, efficient and innovative trade for 

the benefit of our three regions, port users and our 

shareholder.  

THE SURVEYS PROMPTED TWO KEY 
INITIATIVES: 
Firstly, we promoted our values to improve decision-

making and harmonised behaviours between the ports. 

Three new values, accountability, teamwork and future 

focus were added to the value integrity which existed in 

two of the three ports prior to the creation of Southern 

Ports. The focus on values aimed at encouraging 

listening and respect regardless of locations and 

background. 

Secondly we strengthened our identity by aligning the 

business under a single name and logo: “Southern Ports 

Albany-Bunbury-Esperance”. The brand links our three 

ports and reflects the accountability our organisation 

has for supporting the regions in which our staff live and 

work.

Four new trades took place at Esperance Port including 

woodchips, spodumene, nickel and copper concentrate, 

based on low capital and privately-funded product 

handling technologies such as a mobile shiploader and 

rotating container system. 

Good management practices, strong community 

support and collaboration with supply chain partners 

and regulators saw Esperance Port reintroducing bulk 

export from Berth 2 based on the latest dust mitigation 

technologies and practices. 

For the first time in the history of Albany Port, trade in 

Albany was above 5 million tonnes driven by trade in 

woodchips and a strong grain harvest.

In FY17 Southern Ports hit record trade for each of our 

three ports and shipping was also up 7.3 per cent or 57 

visits to a total of 841.

Grain volumes hit new records, up almost 15 per cent 

resulting in an increase in shipping. Spodumene was 

also exported at record levels, up more than 40 per cent 

buoyed by new trade via Esperance.

Nicolas Fertin, CEO

CEO REPORT
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Overall the FY17 trade of 37.3 million tonnes was 3.4 per 

cent higher than FY16. 

The revenue on cargo of $71.8 million was 3 per cent 

lower than FY16 and rental revenue dropped 14 per cent 

to $10.4 million. These lower revenues were partially 

offset by the charges on shipping of $45.1 million which 

increased by 6 per cent from FY16. Despite the 3.3 per 

cent increase in trade, the overall revenue of $138.9 

million was 1 per cent lower than FY16.

Despite the lack of revenue growth, Southern Ports 

continued efforts to control costs. Excluding a one-off 

personal leave adjustment of $1.4 million across the 

organisation, employee benefits expense of $31.2 million 

reduced by 3 per cent from FY16. Our contract and 

services and capital expenditures continue to increase 

to ensure we maintain our port assets for the future. 

Overall, Southern Ports delivers strong financial results 

for the benefit of our shareholder and port users. Total 

revenue per tonne decreased 4.3 per cent and cost per 

tonne decreased by 6.9 per cent. Profit before income tax 

was $40.4 million.

The price increase scheduled for FY18 of 0.5 per cent 

at all three ports is the lowest applied by any WA port 

authority for the period. 

During the year, Southern Ports applied rigorous risk 

and commercial practices to provide certainty for the 

compatible development of aquaculture in port waters 

without compromising on future port development. Four 

leases were extended for five years, and two leases 

extended for a decade under a new agreement for 

shellfish production in Albany’s King George Sound and 

a 30-year seabed lease was finalised with the Fisheries 

Minister for the construction, operation and maintenance 

of a seawater intake pipeline to support the Albany 

Aquaculture Park.

Southern Ports trade volume of 37.3 million tonnes 

generates almost $10 billion in trade value and supports 

close to 12,000 direct trade jobs in farming, mining and 

forestry. 

Although our focus on bulk and container trade is critical 

to our regions, Southern Ports mission also extends to 

the facilitation of cruise ships and tourism trade. Our 

three ports were visited by 27 cruise ships during the 

financial year, up from 25 the previous year. Albany and 

Bunbury both guarantee berthing for cruise ships, while 

Esperance was able to increase the percentage of cruise 

ships able to berth from 58 per cent to 72 per cent. At all 

locations, we work with stakeholders to attract cruise 

ships to the regions.

During the year, Southern Ports continued to offer career 

opportunities across its four locations. At the close of 

FY17, of the 42 staff members who had accountability 

across the three ports, nearly three quarters - or 30 in 

total – were based in the regions.

These roles represent the opportunity for career 

development for staff in the regions who perhaps 

previously had responsibility over an individual port. 

This approach has accelerated sharing of skills 

and experience from one port to another, as well as 

leveraging our business scale. As a result, Southern 

Ports is less reliant on Perth-based skills.

This year’s report includes several examples 

demonstrating how the continuous improvement of our 

culture and skills has delivered benefits across our 

regions. Two examples are worth noting:

Collaboration across Albany, Bunbury and Esperance 

saw the Esperance payroll team becoming the centre 

of payroll excellence for the entire Southern Ports. The 

benefits included less reliance on contractors, staff in 

Albany freed up to become responsible for financial 

management across the three ports and upskilling of the 

payroll Esperance team. 

A second example is the competitive tender coordinated 

between Perth, Bunbury and Esperance which resulted 

in the Esperance family-based business Mackenzie 

Marine and Towage (MMT) being awarded a license in 

Esperance and Bunbury Ports. This delivered $2 million 

in savings for port users, preserved all Esperance and 

Bunbury towage skills and jobs, and resulted in two 

new privately-funded tug boats procured for Bunbury. 

The contract allowed MMT to add staff to its Esperance 

operations and expand to Bunbury.

Southern Ports continues to support an efficient  

supply chain by providing a safe port for all users and 

focus on its communities by minimising its impact on 

the environment. Removal of asbestos material remains 

a focus for all capital works projects. Opportunistic 

removal occurred at all sites to eliminate potential  

health risks. 

All ports invested heavily in roads to reduce traffic risks, 

and in Bunbury a $1.9 million project to improve dust 

mitigation has resulted in more efficient and effective 

capture of dust from all fine and dry bulk products 

handled through Berth 8. 

We strengthened our media communication to educate 

our communities on our roles by launching a refreshed 

quarterly community newsletter, PortTalk, and provided 

more than $270,000 through sponsorship for more than 

80 community initiatives.

In conclusion, I thank the Board for its guidance during 

which evidence of benefits from working as one 

business across three ports is becoming more evident 

to our port users, communities and shareholder. I would 

like to also thank all staff members who are embracing 

the opportunity to transform our three ports into a new 

business and, in particular, their commitment to their 

own safety and the safety of others.

SOUTHERN PORTS ANNUAL REPORT 2017



Mediterranean Shipping Company’s MSC Shanghai 
container ship preparing to depart from Esperance.
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SOUTHERN PORTS: A GOVERNMENT 
TRADING ENTERPRISE
The sole shareholder is the Western Australian 

Government Empowering legislation: Port Authorities 

Act 1999; Port Legislation Amendment Act 2014

ALBANY
LOCATION: 35°03’S 117°89’E

MODEL: LANDLORD 

Key activities: Leasing land to port-

related industries and providing access 

to port infrastructure and facilities.

Services such as towage and 

stevedoring outsourced to the  

BUNBURY
LOCATION: 32°32’S 115°66’E

MODEL: LANDLORD 

Key activities: Leasing land to port-

related industries and providing access 

to port infrastructure and facilities.

Services such as towage and 

stevedoring outsourced to the  

ESPERANCE
LOCATION: 33°86’S 121°89’E

MODEL: HYBRID LANDLORD 
AND IN-HOUSE 
STEVEDORING

Key activities: Leasing land to port-

related industries and providing access 

to port infrastructure and facilities. 

Most product handling equipment is 

OUR ORGANISATION
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Berths Goods
Berth 

Length
Berth 
Depth

Max 
Vessel 
Draft

ALBANY Berth 1 General purpose 209 10.2 9.8

Berth 2 General purpose 172 10.2 9.8

Berth 3 Grain 227 12.2 11.7

Berth 6 (Dolphin) Woodchips 216 12.5 11.7

BUNBURY Berth 1 Methanol and general purpose 184 8.5 8.5

Berth 2 Tugboats 184 7.5 8.5

Berth 3 (Dolphin) Woodchips 381 12.2 11.6

Berth 4 
(Alcoa) (Dolphin) Alumina, caustic soda 225 12.7 11.6

Berth 5 General purpose 240 12.2 11.6

Berth 6 
(South 32) (Dolphin) Alumina, caustic soda 229 12.7 11.6

Berth 8 Bulk materials shiploader 250 12.2 11.6

ESPERANCE Berth 1 Grain, fuel, woodchips 229 14.1 13.5

Berth 2 Containers, sulphur, fertiliser, 
fuel, spodumene, nickel, copper 229 13.8 13.2

Berth 3 (Dolphin) Iron ore 289 18.9 18.3

SOUTHERN PORTS ANNUAL REPORT 2017



Bunbury

Perth

Albany

AGRICULTURE
Product Location

Grain Arthur River
Grain Beaumont
Grain Borden
Grain Broomehill
Grain Bunbury
Grain Cascade
Grain Cranbrook
Grain Gairdner
Grain Grass Patch
Grain Hyden
Grain Katanning
Grain Kukerin
Grain Lake Grace
Grain Lake King
Grain Lake Varley
Grain Mt Madden
Grain Munglinup
Grain Newdegate
Grain Pingrup
Grain Wagin

WA TRADE 
BY ORIGIN
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Esperance

FORESTRY
Product Location

Hard and soft wood Augusta-Margaret River
Hard and soft wood Boddington
Hard and soft wood Boyup Brook
Hard and soft wood Bridgetown-Greenbushes
Hard and soft wood Busselton
Hard and soft wood Capel
Hard and soft wood Collie
Hard and soft wood Cranbrook
Hard and soft wood Donnybrook- Balingup
Hard and soft wood Harvey
Hard and soft wood Kojonup
Hard and soft wood Manjimup
Hard and soft wood Nannup
Hard and soft wood West Arthur
Hard and soft wood Williams
Woodchips Albany region
Woodchips Esperance

*Denotes local government area 
MINING
Product Location

Alumina Pinjarra
Calcined Alumina Worsley Refinery Collie
Copper Sulphide Concentrate Boddington
Gold Pyrite Kalgoorlie-Boulder
Heavy mineral sands blend Wonnerup project
Ilmenite Cooljarloo Mine
Ilmenite Dardanup-Doral 
Ilmenite Sand Products Victoria, South Australia
Ilmenite Sand (S/R Grade) Wonnerup project
Iron Concentrate Tutunup South
Iron Ore Koolyanobbing
Leucoxene   Cooljarloo Mine
Leucoxene  Sand Products Tutunup South
Leucoxene  Zircon Concentrate Tutunup South
Medium Zircon feedstock (MZF) Cooljarloo Mine
Mineral Sand Concentrate Wonnerup project
Mineral Sands Ore Tutunup South
Mixed non-magnetic heavy 
mineral sands Wonnerup project

Nickel Forrestania
Nickel Kambalda
Nickel Ravensthorpe
Nickel/copper Fraser Range
Pooncarie Leucoxene Sand  
(BH Grade) Wonnerup project

Silica Sand Kemerton
Silica Sand Mindijup mine
Spodumene Greenbushes
Spodumene Mt Cattlin
Synthetic Rutile Cooljarloo Mine
Synthetic Rutile Tutunup South
Zircon Monazite Concentrate Tutunup South
Zircon Sand Products Cooljarloo Mine
Zircon Sand/Zircon Flour Wonnerup project



Africa 2,450,672 6.56%

Egypt 93,690 0.25%

Kenya 87,000 0.23%

Mauritania 644 0.00%

Mozambique 1,095,957 2.94%

Sierra Leone 12,500 0.03%

South Africa 1,160,881 3.11%

Asia 23,649,183 63.35%

Bangladesh 146,789 0.39%

China 13,321,067 35.68%

Hong Kong 55,818 0.15%

India 653,607 1.75%

Indonesia 918,687 2.46%

Japan 4,088,624 10.95%

Malaysia 624,099 1.67%

North Korea 163,973 0.44%

Phillippines 640,637 1.73%

Singapore 389,232 1.04%

South Korea 1,934,052 5.18%

Taiwan 385,085 1.03%

Thailand 89,750 0.24%

Vietnam 237,764 0.64%

Europe 1,864,221 4.99%

Belgium 215,875 0.58%

Finland 5,502 0.01%

Germany 377,623 1.01%

Iceland 619,540 1.66%

Netherlands 447,303 1.20%

Portugal 37,811 0.10%

Spain 72,301 0.19%

United Kingdom 88,267 0.24%

WORLD TRADE STATISTICS
Continent/
Country

FY17  
Tonnes

% Of 
Trade

INTERNATIONAL 
TRADE
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Middle East 6,986,515 18.71%

Bahrain 1,849,653 4.95%

Israel 3,393 0.01%

Kuwait 200,197 0.54%

Oman 96,178 0.26%

Qatar 899,766 2.41%

Saudi Arabia 382,384 1.02%

United Arab Emirates 3,439,445 9.21%

Yemen 115,500 0.31%

North America 1,164,537 3.12%

Canada 318,690 0.85%

Cuba 38,500 0.10%

Panama 27,005 0.07%

United States 780,342 2.10%

Australasia 938,177 2.52%

Australia 644,975 1.73%

New Zealand 293,202 0.79%

South America 278,311 0.75%

Argentina 226,800 0.61%

Brazil 40,511 0.11%

Peru 11,000 0.03%

Total Tonnes 37,331,616

Indicates three biggest 
individual trading countries.

2.52%

Africa

6.56%

Europe

4.99%

Other 
Middle East

  9.5%
 

of Trade

China

  35.68% 
of Trade

Other Asia

  16.71%
 

of Trade

Japan

United Arab 
Emirates

 10.95%
 

of Trade

 9.21%
 

of Trade

Australasia



OUR  
STRATEGIC DIRECTION

OUR MISSION
To provide efficient, sustainable and commercial 
trade facilitation through the southern ports for 
the benefit of regional communities, customers 
and Government. 

OUR VISION
To be recognised  as a safe, efficient 
and innovative Port Authority by all 
stakeholders.

ACCOUNTABILITY
Empowering people 
to perform well, 
demonstrating initiative 
and acting responsibily.

Working as one 
team to achieve 
a common goal.

TEAMWORK
Building a sustainable 
future while respecting 
our history.

FUTURE FOCUS
Holding high 
standards of conduct 
and decision-making 
to ensure confidence 
and trust. 

INTEGRITY

OUR VALUES
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STATE GOVERNMENT GOALS

The Western Australian Government has five strategic goals. These broad, 
high-level Government goals are supported at agency level by more 

specific desired outcomes. These outcomes contribute to the achievement 
of the high-level Government goals.

Southern Ports’ strategic themes are aligned to the State Government goals.

SOUTHERN PORTS STRATEGIC THEMES

Financial  
Viability Right People Right Systems

Satisfied 
Customers & 
Communities

S
TA

TE
 G

O
V

E
R

N
M

E
N

T 
G

O
A

L
S State Building  

Major Projects   

Financial & Economic 
Responsibility  

Outcome Based Service 
Delivery   

Stronger Focus  
on Regions   

Social & Environmental 
Responsibility   



CORPORATE STRUCTURE

Board of 
Directors

Minister for
Transport

Human
Resources
Committee

Corporate
Governance  

& Policy 
Committee

Board 
Secretary

P Trigwell

General Manager 
People & 

Organisation 

K Daly

Chief Financial  
Officer

B Granville

Harbour Master, 
General Manager 

Marine

Captain G Wilson

General Manager  
Health, Safety, 
Environment & 

Security

D Chapman

General Manager 
Port of Esperance 

& Assets

A Byers

Health, Safety  
& Environment 

Committee

Audit & Risk
Committee

 
General Manager 

Commercial  
& Legal

M Sokolich 

General Manager  
Southrn Ports 

Albany & Bunbury

D Lambourn

Chief Executive 
Officer

 Nicolas Fertin
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OUR DIRECTORS

The Southern Ports’ Board of Directors is the organisation’s governing body 

as detailed in the Act. Members are appointed by the Minister and are tasked 

with determining policies and controlling the affairs of Southern Ports.

BE (Civil), Grad. Dip. MBA, FAICD, MIE (Aust) 

Appointed: 1 September 2014, term ends 30 June 2018.

Neema has been a director with Port Authority 

boards since 2002 and runs a board consultancy 

business providing advice on matters related 

to boardroom strategy, corporate governance, 

asset and risk management and is a facilitator 

for the Australian Institute of Company 

Directors. Neema is a director of Capecare, 

a member of the AICD South West Regional 

Committee and is a Federal Director of the 

Australia-India Council Board

SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITIES: AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE CHAIR, CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
AND POLICY COMMITTEE MEMBER.

NEEMA PREMJI, DEPUTY CHAIR

Bsc, LLB (Hons) Australian National University 

Appointed: 1 July 2016, term ends 30 June 2018.

Rob brings more than 30 years’ experience in 

energy and resources to his role at Southern 

Ports, including senior roles at public companies 

in the oil and gas industry. Prior to moving into 

executive management, Rob spent 20 years 

in the legal profession with Mallesons. He is 

former Chairman of the Australian Petroleum 

Production and Exploration Association and was 

a management committee member at the WA 

Chamber of Minerals and Energy.

SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITIES: CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND POLICY COMMITTEE CHAIR.

ROBERT COLE, CHAIRMAN

Bsc (Hons), PhD (University of Western Australia) 

Appointed: 1 September 2014, term ends 31 December 2017.

Phil has been a director with Port Authority 

boards since 2007. Phil’s research in the late 

1970s on the ecology of marine fouling at the 

Stirling Naval Base earned him a doctorate 

and resulted in Phil accruing considerable 

experience, later working as director of a 

marine environmental consultant for a decade. 

Phil has worked on many major projects 

along the WA coast and abroad, including port 

developments, dredging programs and marina 

developments.

SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITIES: HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENT COMMITTEE CHAIR.

DR PHILLIP CHALMER

SOUTHERN PORTS ANNUAL REPORT 2017



B.Ed (Honours) 

Appointed: 1 September 2015, term ends 31 December 2017.

Carolyn has been a director with Port Authority 

boards since 2007, prior to which she was a 

founding director and partner of a Perth-based 

industrial relations consultancy. Carolyn has 

spent her career in the maritime and oil and gas 

industries, having worked in both management 

and advisory roles in human resource, employee 

relations and industrial relations. Carolyn is 

also an active working partner in a beef cattle 

enterprise in WA’s South West. 

SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITIES: HUMAN RESOURCES COMMITTEE AND HEALTH, SAFETY AND 
ENVIRONMENT COMMITTEE MEMBER.

CAROLYN PORTER

LL.B (Honours), LL.M (Distinction) 

Appointed: 1 September 2014, term ends 31 December 2018.

Anthony’s skills and experience include advising 

Government and commercial parties on a range 

of risk management and corporate government 

issues, stemming from his background as a 

partner at law firm Blake Dawson Waldron and 

working with the State Solicitor’s Office. Anthony 

is a barrister at the Independent Bar at Francis 

Burt Chambers and an honorary fellow at the 

University of Western Australia.

SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITIES: AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE MEMBER. 

ANTHONY WILLINGE

Appointed: 1 September 2014, term ends 31 December 2017.

Gary has been a Port Authority Board director for 

more than a decade and brings with him extensive 

experience in Industrial Relations and the Fair 

Work Act 2009. Gary is the secretary to the CFMEU 

Mining and Energy Division—WA District and is 

a member of the AICD and the Mining Industry 

Advisory Committee which is charged with 

implementing the National Occupational Health 

and Safety Regime for the Western Australian 

Resource Sector. Gary is also a member of the 

Commission of Occupational Safety and Health 

and the Occupational Health and Safety Working 

Party.

SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITIES: HUMAN RESOURCES COMMITTEE CHAIR.

GARY WOOD

MEng (Electrical), FIEAust, AIM, FAIB, SMIEEE, MAICD 

Appointed: 1 September 2014, term ends 31 December 2018.

Peter’s role with Southern Ports is complemented 

by his directorship with organisations that 

operate in defence, energy, engineering, property, 

Aboriginal community sectors and oil and gas. 

His leadership experience comes from more 

than 25 years in industry during which he was 

instrumental in securing and delivering major 

multi-billion dollar projects both in WA and 

nationally. Peter is a Fellow of the Institution of 

Engineers of Australia.

SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITIES: HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENT COMMITTEE MEMBER.

PETER IANCOV
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Alan is a career port expert, having joined 

Southern Ports in 2015 after working as a 

commercial manager at a Victorian port and in 

stevedoring and operations in Geraldton. His 

extensive operational experience has proven 

valuable as both a port and asset manager.

AREAS OF RESPONSIBILITY: WHOLE-OF-ORGANISATION ASSET MANAGEMENT, 
ESPERANCE ADMINISTRATION, BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT, MAINTENANCE, 
TECHNICAL SERVICES AND ENGINEERING.

ALAN BYERS, GENERAL MANAGER, 
ESPERANCE PORT AND ASSETS

DARREN CHAPMAN, GENERAL MANAGER, 
HEALTH, SAFETY, ENVIRONMENT & SECURITY

Darren joined Southern Ports in 2017 to lead 

a new cross-organisational unit to consolidate 

health, safety, environment and security 

protocols across Southern Ports’ three 

operations. Darren’s experience working across 

multiple sites in regional WA and on high-profile 

projects puts him in a strong position to continue 

Southern Ports’ positive HSES track record.

AREAS OF RESPONSIBILITY: OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY, ENVIRONMENT 
AND SECURITY

Nicolas has led transformation strategies 

throughout his career both in Australia and 

overseas, particularly Europe and the Middle 

East. He was appointed chief executive at 

Southern Ports in 2015 and has driven cultural 

and business changes throughout his tenure.

KEY AREA OF RESPONSIBILITY: OVERALL CORPORATE STRATEGY.

NICOLAS FERTIN, 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

OUR LEADERS
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OUR LEADERS, CONT.

Brian was appointed as Chief Financial Officer 

in February 2015 and first joined the former 

Bunbury Port Authority as CFO in February 

2012. Brian has more than 20 years’ experience 

in financial management, and has managed a 

number of other functions including IT, risk and 

pricing in previous roles within the water industry. 

Brian has tertiary qualifications in accounting and 

finance and has been a CPA since 1998.

AREAS OF RESPONSIBILITY: FINANCE, TECHNOLOGY, RISK PROCESS, INSURANCE 
AND PORT PRICING.

BRIAN GRANVILLE, CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Darren joined Southern Ports in late 2015 

following his previous role working on multi-

billion dollar projects in the Pilbara region. During 

2017, Darren’s role was expanded to capture 

operations at both Albany and Bunbury ports 

following a track record of success during his 

original tenure at Bunbury.

AREAS OF RESPONSIBILITY: ADMINISTRATION, BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT, MAINTENANCE, 
TECHNICAL SERVICES AND ENGINEERING AT BOTH ALBANY AND BUNBURY-BASED OPERATIONS.

DARREN LAMBOURN, GENERAL MANAGER, 
SOUTHERN PORTS ALBANY AND BUNBURY

Katie’s role was expanded during 2016-17 to 

encapsulate managing organisational design and 

transformation as well her original role in human 

resources. Katie’s background in strategic human 

resources in mining and manufacturing, prior 

to joining Southern Ports in 2016, were evident 

when aligning Southern Ports’ human resources 

strategy with its vision, mission and values.

AREAS OF RESPONSIBILITY: HUMAN RESOURCES, COMMUNICATIONS, PAYROLL, RECORDS.

KATIE DALY, GENERAL MANAGER, 
PEOPLE & ORGANISATION
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Mark held senior legal and commercial 

management roles in a range of high-profile 

international resources and infrastructure 

companies both in Australia and overseas prior 

to joining Southern Ports in 2015. Mark leads 

a strong team that has secured new trade 

agreements for Southern Ports and licenses for 

port services that have delivered significant cost 

savings to customers. 

AREAS OF RESPONSIBILITY: CONTRACTS, TRADE, PROPERTY AND LEGAL

MARK SOKOLICH, GENERAL MANAGER, 
COMMERCIAL & LEGAL

In early 2017, Gary was appointed the first 

dedicated harbour master at Southern Ports. He 

leads a team of nine experienced marine pilots, as 

well as coxswains and a shipping officer, to ensure 

safe movement of all vessels and other marine 

activity within Southern Ports waters. 

AREAS OF RESPONSIBILITY: SHIPPING, MARINE

CAPTAIN GARY WILSON, HARBOUR MASTER, 
GENERAL MANAGER MARINE

Peta commenced as Company Secretary in early 

2011 with the former Bunbury Port Authority. As a 

CPA, member of the Institute of Internal Auditors 

Australia, Australian Governance Institute and 

Australian Institute for Company Directors, Peta 

brings a strong understanding of governance 

to the Board and Executive Team, as well as 

providing executive support to Directors. 

AREAS OF RESPONSIBILITY: BOARD GOVERNANCE

PETA TRIGWELL, BOARD SECRETARY
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Shiploading underway at Albany
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PERFORMANCE
Financial viability:
 • Trade results
 • Case study: New trade

Right people:
 • Case study: Training

Right systems

Satisfied Customers:
 • Asset maintenance and port development
 • Case study: Stakeholder satisfaction survey
 • Case study: Towage licencing

Satisfied communities:
 • Port Community Consultative Committees
 • Corporate Sponsorship Program
 • Case study: Tommy Windich memorial



The E.R. Long Beach departs Esperance

FINANCIAL VIABILITY 
CONSOLIDATED 
Trade results for the year ended 30 June 2017

Southern Ports hit record trade throughput in FY17 
buoyed by strong grain and woodchip volumes 

at Albany, Bunbury and Esperance ports.

Ship visits reached a total of 841, an 

increase of 57 on the 784 visits the 

previous year.

Southern Ports’ total spodumene export 

increased more than 40 per cent, up 

185,000 tonnes to 634,000.

The organisation was visited by 27 

cruise ships, up from 25 the previous 

year with the biggest increase at Albany, 

which guarantees the vessels a berth.
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Imports 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Caustic Soda 1,353,215 1,370,164 1,397,784 1,306,665 1,287,545

Coal 97,996 60,993 104,228 93,847 35,292

Fertiliser 291,093 254,163 243,075 168,066 212,883

Mineral Sands 316,456 356,649 288,166 325,864 326,348

Nickel 9,171 12,604 0 0 0

Oil/Petroleum 351,201 343,331 340,859 355,991 357,155

Sulphur 411,080 315,952 374,206 381,761 367,591

Sundry 24,117 63,581 68,145 69,631 71,170

Timber Products 5,886 6,131 20,799 21,755 20,546

Total Imports 2,860,214 2,783,569 2,837,262 2,723,580 2,678,530

Exports

Alumina 10,933,102 10,721,303 10,696,295 10,658,408 10,589,634

Copper Concentrate 268,842 245,755 256,430 189,236 228,362

Grain 6,147,887 5,347,550 5,800,877 5,449,958 4,268,138

Iron Ore 11,247,090 11,749,316 11,774,000 11,288,529 11,045,649

Mineral Sands 960,885 840,897 697,815 741,796 715,521

Nickel 99,613 176,557 219,687 245,255 385,019

Oil/Petroleum 12,789 25,601 26,718 27,388 26,464

Silica Sand 501,625 508,832 470,596 397,022 442,226

Spodumene 634,203 449,299 482,755 344,200 420,925

Sundry 89,585 136,322 88,970 68,981 36,984

Timber Products 74,865 86,723 64,558 67,154 8,597

Woodchips 3,500,915 3,037,708 2,771,847 2,904,658 2,461,534

Total Exports 34,471,402 33,325,863 33,350,548 32,382,585 30,629,053

Fuel Oil (Bunkers) 0 0 8,028 814 69

Total Trade 37,331,616 36,109,432 36,195,838 35,106,979 33,307,652

Shipping

Gross Registered Tonnage 30,202,407 28,430,186 27,676,330 26,659,779 25,145,712

Number Of Vessels 

Trade Vessels 809 751 740 740 736

Other Vessels 32 33 47 21 18

Number of Vessels 841 784 787 761 754



FINANCIAL VIABILITY 
ALBANY 
Trade results for the year ended 30 June 2017

Southern Ports – Albany recorded an increase in trade of more than  
11 per cent to 5.1 million tonnes, a new record for the port.

The biggest increases were in woodchips which 

increased 23 per cent on the previous year to 1.7 million 

tonnes, or 35 per cent of the port’s total export.

Grain export also increased by 135,000 tonnes to 1.9 

million tonnes, which was the result of a record WA 

grain season. The increase in these major exports was 

proportionate to an 11 per cent increase in trade vessel 

visits, a total of 158 visits up from 142 the previous year.

The log export trade continued to grow during the year to 

49,000 tonnes.

A decrease in fuel imports were largely offset by an 

increase in fertiliser imports, resulting in a net import 

increase of 123,000 tonnes.

Albany also hosted 13 cruise ships during FY17, up from 

11 the previous year.
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Imports 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Fertiliser 123,048 102,016 99,324 53,179 83,760

Oil/Petroleum 42,394 48,793 51,111 53,359 37,422

Sundry 0 0 76 654 230

Total Imports 165,441 150,810 150,511 107,192 121,412

Exports

Grain 2,912,127 2,776,996 3,385,125 2,914,971 2,681,766

Silica Sand 228,151 235,246 167,227 141,158 206,569

Timber Products 48,777 18,958 0 0 0

Woodchips 1,752,556 1,420,465 1,165,087 1,398,051 1,090,886 

Total Exports 4,941,611 4,451,665 4,717,439 4,454,180 3,979,221

Fuel Oil (Bunkers) 0 0 7,968 814 0

Total Trade 5,107,052 4,602,475 4,875,918 4,562,186 4,100,633

Shipping

Gross Registered Tonnage 5,727,315 5,253,548 5,349,906 4,821,257 4,249,580

Number of Vessels

Trade Vessels 158 142 140 133 130

Other Vessels 16 16 32 11 14

Number of Vessels 174 158 172 144 144



FINANCIAL VIABILITY 
BUNBURY 
Trade results for the year ended 30 June 2017
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with increases of alumina, grain, mineral sands and spodumene 
exports contributing to an increase of more than 480,000 tonnes 
compared to the previous year.

Total throughput of 16.7 million tonnes was up from  

16.2 million tonnes or 3.3 per cent on the previous year, 

and 9.4 per cent on five years ago.

There was a reflected increase in shipping of 6.5 per 

cent of trade vessels or a total of 441, up from 414 the 

previous year. Bunbury hosted other vessels including 

three cruise ships during FY17, up from two the  

previous year.

Imports dropped 1.2 per cent to 1.8 million tonnes,  

a result primarily attributed to a decrease in mineral 

sands and fuel.
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Imports 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Caustic Soda 1,353,215 1,370,164 1,397,784 1,306,665 1,287,545 

Coal 97,996 60,993 104,228 93,847 35,292

Fertiliser 29,138 22,507 30,088 28,316 35,033 

Mineral Sands 316,456 356,649 288,166 325,864 326,348

Oil/Petroleum 11,812 22,016 11,776 10,497 11,174

Sundry 1,450 0 4,184 420 109

Timber Products 5,886 6,131 20,799 21,755 20,546

Total Imports 1,815,953 1,838,460 1,857,025 1,787,364 1,716,047

Exports

Alumina 10,933,102 10,721,303 10,696,295 10,658,408 10,589,634

Copper Concentrate 263,225 245,755 256,430 189,236 228,362

Grain 273,849 154,640 244,889 0 0

Mineral Sands 960,885 840,897 697,815 741,796 715,521

Oil/Petroleum 12,789 25,601 26,718 27,388 26,464

Silica Sand 273,474 273,586 303,369 255,864 235,657 

Spodumene 579,531 449,299 482,755 344,200 420,925 

Sundry 29,036 27,927 26,122 27,821 20,051

Timber Products 26,088 67,765 64,558 67,154 8,597

Woodchips 1,543,783 1,602,058 1,606,760 1,506,607 1,370,648 

Total Exports 14,895,762 14,408,831 14,405,711 13,818,474 13,615,859

Fuel Oil (Bunkers) 0 0 60 0 69

Total Trade 16,711,715 16,247,291 16,262,796 15,605,838 15,331,975

Shipping 

Gross Registered Tonnage 13,646,656 12,776,619 12,785,597 12,002,708 11,790,036

Number of Vessels

Trade Vessels 441 414 414 410 414

Other Vessels 5 3 5 4 0

Number of Vessels 446 417 419 414 414



FINANCIAL VIABILITY 
ESPERANCE 
Trade results for the year ended 30 June 2017

Trade at Southern Ports – Esperance was buoyed by big increases  
in woodchip and grain exports as well as new trade in spodumene, 

copper and nickel concentrates.

Total trade of 15.5 million tonnes was an increase of 

253,000 or 1.6 per cent on the previous year, and an 

increase of 12.3 per cent from five years ago.

More than 54,000 tonnes of spodumene from Galaxy 

Resources Mt Cattlin mine and 11,500 of copper and nickel 

from Independent Group’s Nova minesite were exported 

using Qube Holding’s rotating container technology (see 

case study).

Sulphur imports increased more than 30 per cent,  

and smaller import increases were recorded in fuel and 

fertilisers.

The increase in trade also resulted in an increase in 

shipping. Esperance recorded 210 trade visits and 11 

cruise ship visits during the year bringing total visitation 

of 221, up from 209 the previous year.
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Imports 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Fertiliser 138,906 129,640 113,663 86,571 94,090 

Nickel 9,171 12,604 0 0 0

Oil/Petroleum 296,995 272,522 277,972 292,135 308,559 

Sulphur 411,080 315,952 374,206 381,761 367,591

Sundry 22,667 63,581 63,885 68,557 70,831

Total Imports 878,819 794,299 829,726 829,024 841,071

Exports

Copper Concentrate 5,617 0 0 0 0

Grain 2,961,912 2,415,914 2,170,863 2,534,987 1,586,372

Iron Ore 11,247,090 11,749,316 11,774,000 11,288,529 11,045,649

Nickel 99,613 176,557 219,687 245,255 385,019

Spodumene 54,672 0 0 0 0

Sundry 60,549 108,395 62,848 41,160 16,933

Woodchips 204,576 15,185 0 0 0

Total Exports 14,634,030 14,465,367 14,227,398 14,109,931 13,033,973

Total Trade 15,512,849 15,259,666 15,057,124 14,938,955 13,875,044

TEUs In 5,381 10,787 12,897 12,502 16,290

TEUs Out 5,821 10,973 12,531 13,684 16,432

Total TEUs 11,202 21,760 25,428 26,186 32,722

Shipping

Gross Registered Tonnage 10,828,436 10,400,019 9,540,827 9,835,814 9,106,096

Number of Vessels

Trade Vessels 210 195 186 197 192

Other Vessels 11 14 10 6 4

Number Of Vessels 221 209 196 203 196
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Spodumene makes up less than  
2 per cent of Southern Ports overall 

exports but the trade is growing, 
with WA home to some of the world’s 
richest lithium deposits.

A trial agreement between Galaxy Resources 

and Southern Ports has helped cement WA’s 

international reputation as a lithium powerhouse.

During FY17, Galaxy Resources started exporting 

spodumene from its Mt Cattlin mine near 

Ravesnthorpe through Southern Ports - Esperance.

In October last year Southern Ports issued Galaxy 

with a Port Access Licence to facilitate the export 

of spodumene. Four shipments were carried out in 

FY17.

Southern Ports sought an amendment to its licence 

with the Department of Water and Environment 

Regulation for the acceptance, handling and export 

of spodumene at the Esperance Port.

The inaugural shipment of about 10,000 tonnes left 

Esperance in the 180m-long cargo ship NY Trader 

1 on 2 January 2017. By June, Galaxy was on its 

fourth shipment.

To facilitate the export, QUBE Holdings was tasked 

by Galaxy Resources to provide a supply chain 

moving spodumene from mine to cargo ship.

Under the agreement, QUBE invested in a rotating 

container system to the Port of Esperance to 

transport spodumene, which improves dust control.

Spodumene is loaded from the storage shed into 

rotating containers which then cycle around and 

empty into the cargo ship.

QUBE also struck a deal with BHP to use a shed on-

site at Esperance that had stood empty since 2009. 

Southern Ports provided regular updates to the 

Esperance Port Consultative Committee on the 

proposed new commodity to ensure the transport 

and rotating container system would meet 

community expectations.

Combined, these factors made Esperance an 

attractive option for Galaxy.

FINANCIAL VIABILITY 
CASE STUDY 
Facilitating WA's spodumene trade

ISSUES DEALT WITH TO 
BEGIN THE TRIAL INCLUDED: 

 » On site storage

 » Mine-to-vessel supply chain

 » Dust mitigation

 » Southern Ports’ 
environmental licence 
requiring amendments
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Loading spodumene using rotating 
container system at Esperance Port
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Pile replacement 
works at Albany

During the year, Southern Ports established for the first time an 
impartial and repeatable measure of employee engagement across 

the organisation. 

A baseline employee survey was undertaken in August 

2016 and a repeat survey was undertaken in June 

2017, meaning the results could be tracked as a key 

performance indicator in the future.

Both surveys invited employees to select their personal 

values, as well as the perceived current and desired 

values of the organisation. 

The survey measured cultural distance, called entropy, 

against a best practice measure which would be a result 

below 20. 

The first survey showed significant incongruence 

between personal, current and desired values resulting 

in an entropy score of 52.

Southern Ports took several actions:

 » August 2016 to June 2017: Focus on individual 

performance, accountability and integrity

 » January 2017: Leadership training for executives

 » January 2017: Commencement of a single intranet 

platform to improve access to communication

 » May 2017: Brand refresh under a single logo

 » June 2017: Leadership training for managers

 » June 2017: Measure any change through a second 

values survey.

At the time the second survey in June 2017 occurred:

 » The Bunbury maintenance team was undergoing a 

significant expansion.

 » The business announced the loss of a stevedoring 

contract which impacted Esperance.

 » The brand refresh had been initiated.

 » The intranet was not yet launched.

 » Leadership training for managers was in the early 

stages.

The second survey showed improvement with entropies 

of several teams improving between 6 per cent and 20 

per cent across the four locations. 

Across all employees, Accountability was selected in 

both surveys as a personal and desired value. Teamwork, 

which was selected as personal value in the first survey, 

became also a current value in several of our locations. 

Future focus, which was not selected in the first survey, 

became a current and desired value in the second 

survey. Despite these encouraging improvements, the 

June overall entropy of 56 shows that Southern Ports 

must remain committed to the journey of cultural change 

to create a more supportive and engaging workplace.

RIGHT PEOPLE 
Values and Identity Strategic Project
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TRAINING 
Southern Ports is proactive in encouraging and assisting staff 

in undertaking role-related training, professional development, 

and further education.

Training, professional development and further education 

is tracked on a site-by-site basis and is not necessarily 

consistently identified.

Role-specific training 
VOC (Verification of Competencies) 805

Compliance 72

OHS related Training 40

Port Security Training 64

Apprenticeships Cert III Electrotechnology Technician 4

Apprenticeships Cert III Engineering Mechanical Fitter 2

Apprenticeships Cert III Engineering Metal Fabrication 2

Apprenticeships Cert III Heavy Commercial Vehicle 1

Five marine pilots also undertook 
role-related training including:
 » Manned ship model training

 » Marine simulator training (see case study)

 » Marine equipment training

 » Oil spill response training (see case study)

Professional development 
Diploma in Leadership & Development 1

Course in General Ship Handling 1

Diploma Project Management 1

MS Excel 7

Graduate Certificate in Human Resources Management 1

Master in Occupational Hygiene and Toxicology 2

Bachelor of Business with a major in Logistics and Supply 

Chain Management
1

MBA Maritime Logistics and Management 1

Cert IV Payroll 1

Diploma Payroll Management 1

Further education 
Executive leadership team members had the opportunity 

to complete an Australian Institute of Company Directors 

qualification.

More than 20 managers and future managers participated in a 

week-long management skills and strategies workshop.

RETENTION AND RECRUITMENT 
Southern Ports strategy of recruiting highly skilled 

leaders continued with the appointment of Health, Safety, 

Environment and Security general manager Darren Chapman 

and General Manager Marine Gary Wilson. Captain Wilson 

is the organisation’s first dedicated Harbour Master with 

responsibility across the three ports.

Southern Ports’ retention rate for the year was 95 per cent, 

which reflected 12 people leaving and the appointment of 

20 new staff. The change results in a slight increase in the 

proportion of women in the organisation, up one per cent from 

20 to 21 per cent. 

At the same time, the average age of staff members dropped, 

from 60 per cent aged over 45 years to 58 per cent. A slight 

increase in the number of staff under the age of 24 reflected 

the recruitment of three trade apprentices at Esperance.

Recruitment of staff is guided by the Public Sector Commission 

standards and in line with the organisation’s structure. 

The organisation is an inclusive and non-discriminatory 

employer which embraces diversity irrespective of race, age, 

sex, marital status, pregnancy, religious or political conviction, 

impairment, family responsibility or family status, gender 

history or orientation.

2015/16 2016/17

F M F M

All staff 43 174 47 178*

Full time 31 162 37 168

Part time 12 12 10 10

Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander 2.5 % 2.3%

Staff with disability 9.6% 9.8%
Staff from a culturally 
diverse background 6.0% 5.3%

Staff aged <25 4.0% 4.9%

Staff aged >46 60.0% 58.0%

*There is a discrepancy between the total headcount of 225 as above, taken at the 
time of the diversity survey, and the total number of staff as reported at the end of 
the financial year, which was 224.

There were no enterprise agreements negotiated during FY17.
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RIGHT PEOPLE 
CASE STUDY 
Training keeps Southern Ports on the cutting edge

Training across the breadth and depth of Southern Ports is critical to 
the performance of the organisation both in facilitating trade and in 

meeting the expectations of stakeholders, staff and the community.

Southern Ports marine staff from Albany underwent 

training in Fremantle on a cutting-edge maritime 

simulator which replicates the experience of piloting 

a ship on local waters.

The training is undertaken on average every two to three 

years and is important for Albany pilots as the port has 

a narrow channel which can be challenging to navigate.

The SimFlex software which creates the simulation 

uses bathymetric data such as tidal currents and depths 

as well as weather conditions, and highly realistic 

visual scenes to mimic real-life experience in a safe 

environment.

FIRST LINE OF DEFENCE OIL SPILL 
TRAINING
A team of 10 workshop staff from Southern 

Ports – Bunbury undertook an oil spill drill in February 

which involved deploying three reels of Polyline 

Containment Boom. The hypothetical spill was from a 

ship at Berth 5, which is a general purpose berth.

Experts from the Fremantle-based Maritime 

Environmental Emergency Response Team also 

attended and helped the Southern Ports team deploy a 

Nofi-V Boom, which is designed for rapid response oil 

clean-up.

LEADERSHIP TRAINING AND 
DEVELOPMENT
A week-long course on management skills and 

strategies was attended by 20 leaders and future 

leaders of Southern Ports. 

Leadership training with a focus on relationship 

building, trust and emotional intelligence was identified 

as a key priority by staff who participated in Southern 

Ports’ cultural values workshops in late 2016. 

Managers from Albany, Bunbury, Esperance and Perth 

participated in the week-long workshop culminating in 

joint-projects to drive the business forward, with more 

training planned for the next financial year.

IN FY17, TRAINING INVESTMENTS 
INCLUDED: 

 » Simulation training for Albany-
based marine staff

 » An oil spill drill at Bunbury using a 
Polyline Containment Boom

 » Leadership training and 
development for managers
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Simulation training underway

Oil spill drill at Bunbury
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MV Astor departing 
Bunbury

RIGHT SYSTEMS
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MARINE OPERATIONS 
Marine operations across the ports were brought 

together into a single team under a dedicated harbour 

master this financial year, representing a significant 

structural change.  

Albany
The southern city continues to be a popular cruise ship 

destination and opens opportunities as a new niche 

market destination for international cruise clients, 

with the first German cruise line paying a visit during 

the year. There were 13 cruise ship visits to Albany, 

compared to 11 the previous year, which was about half 

of Southern Ports’ total of 27 cruise ship visits FY17, up 

from 24 the previous year.

Bunbury 
The Bunbury marine team took on more responsibility 

for planning ship movements to maximise efficiencies in 

towage, pilot launch and mooring gang operations.

The efficiency drive meant planning ship movements 

not only to maximise use of marine resources but also 

to meet customer requirements and to account for 

fatigue management, meteorological conditions and port 

resources.

Esperance
In addition to being one of the deepest ports in Western 

Australia, Esperance maintains the capacity to 

accommodate big ships including the largest recorded 

vessel with a length overall of 300m and a 45m beam 

across Berths 1 and 2. This is in response to customer 

requirements for larger vessels in addition to the 

current cape-size vessels.

FINANCE AND INFORMATION 
TECHNOLOGY

Payroll
At the close of FY17, for the first time all staff across 

Southern Ports were paid under a single payroll system, 

based in Esperance.

Previously staff were paid on a location-based system, 

meaning Albany, Bunbury and Esperance were paid 

on different days, regardless of the team to which they 

belonged.

The change has improved Southern Ports’ ability to 

access accurate human resources-related information, 

implement an online leave application process and 

reduced the amount of time dedicated by staff to 

managing Southern Ports’ payroll.

In addition, payroll in Bunbury and for the Southern 

Ports Board was brought in-house after being 

outsourced in the past. 

Chart of accounts
A new chart of accounts has been in effect for the  

12 months of the FY17 reporting period which 

harmonised financial information across the breadth of 



Sea life at our ports
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the organisation for the first time since the creation of 

Southern Ports in 2014. 

It also improved the effectiveness of an integrated 

business intelligence tool, used to collate financial 

information from three separate systems, which 

resulted in a single source of truth for financial data.

During FY17 tax governance risks were identified and 

procedures and controls documented, in line with 

Southern Ports’ commitment to managing the key 

risks associated with the application of taxation laws.

ICT structure
An Information, Communication and Technology Review 

and Strategy Plan was completed during the year that 

will underpin a planned technology infrastructure 

refresh and upgrade. 

The move is expected to improve Southern Ports’ cyber 

security and capacity for data recovery. It is the first 

major information technology renewal since the merger 

of the three ports.

ENVIRONMENT
Proactive monitoring programs targeting dust, noise, 

water quality, marine sediments, introduced marine 

pests and beach erosion were continued throughout the 

year to measure environmental impacts of activities at 

each Port.

Southern Ports recorded no reportable breaches of 

environmental obligations during FY17. We continue to 

benchmark our operations against relevant legislative 

criteria and industry leading practice in our pursuit of 

continual improvement. 

Bunbury’s ISO 14001:2004 certification for its 

Environmental Management System (EMS) underwent 

a surveillance audit in June 2017 with no non-

conformances identified. The EMS certification will be 

transitioned to ISO14001:2015 by September 2018.

Dust monitoring
Each port has automated air monitoring systems located 

within and outside port boundaries that monitor both 

inhalable and respirable particulates. New product-

handling technology and sealing of port roads resulted in 

record-low dust exceedance results at Esperance Port. 

Although not bound by an environmental licence, Albany 

Port proactively monitors dust levels against the national 

PM10 24-hour average and recorded no exceedances.

Noise monitoring
Noise monitoring data recorded at Bunbury and 

Esperance Ports was compliant with legislated limits 

throughout the year. 

The cumulative noise model for the Bunbury Port Inner 

Harbour was updated in early 2017 and incorporates the 

sound power emission from all port activities, excluding 

train movements, which are exempt. The output of the 

model is used to identify noise sources within the port 

area and for estimating the noise footprint of future port 

developments.

Marine surveillance
Albany and Esperance Ports, in collaboration with the 

State’s Department of Fisheries and local industry, 

participate in the State Wide Array Surveillance 

Program. The program monitors the risk of introduced 

marine species using Next Generation DNA sequencing 

against the Nation’s 55 declared marine pest species. No 

new marine pests identified on the National Introduced 

Marine Species List were detected.

In Bunbury Port, the Biennial Introduced Marine Species 

survey did not identify any high-risk species.

Water efficiency management
Bunbury Port commissioned a storm and waste water 

reuse feasibility study to reduce reliance on bore water 

for conveyor washing. The port identified current water 

extraction allocation may be insufficient to meet the 

water usage requirements of future port developments. 

The port recognises that recycling water is an important 

waste management initiative that will reduce reliance on 

water from the Yarragadee aquifer. 



The Preston River delta
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A reduction in water consumption was achieved at 

Esperance Port by sealing a number of roads and 

integrating fine misting sprays at the Berth 3 iron ore 

conveyor circuit and shiploader.

Licences and approvals
Working in collaboration with the Department of Water 

and Environmental Regulation environmental licence 

amendments were granted for both Bunbury and 

Esperance Ports to accommodate a number of port 

developments, increases in existing trade and new 

trades to Southern Ports.

Documentation is being prepared to start an  

application for Environmental Protection Authority 

approval to extend existing groynes and breakwaters 

in Esperance. Three design concepts are under 

consideration which aim to reduce the cost of 

dredging, allow rail extension along the breakwater 

and reclaim land.

HEALTH AND SAFETY MANAGEMENT

Commitment to health and safety 
Southern Ports’ Health and Safety policy is a 

documented commitment to preserving the health  

and safety of all staff, contractors, port users and 

visitors who access Port controlled lands and waters. 

The policy is displayed throughout the workplace  

and it is communicated through various induction  

and on-boarding programs. The Health and Safety  

policy is reviewed periodically and updated  

accordingly.

Southern Ports has designed a new incident 

management process based on a fair and just  

culture. This culture encourages reporting of  

incidents and injuries to ensure our priority is to  

learn without compromising on our disciplinary 

processes. As expected this new culture resulted  

in an increase of reported incidents and injuries  

during the year. In addition, the Southern Ports safety 

team has undertaken Incident Cause Analysis Method 

(ICAM) training to develop the skills and knowledge 

required to plan, conduct and report on investigations  

of incidents.

Consultation
Southern Ports has established and implemented 

formal processes to consult with staff regarding 

matters that relate to health and safety in the 

workplace. Health and safety messaging is reinforced 

with employees and contractors through regular staff 

and stakeholder meetings, and a variety of reporting 

and inspection methods. Health and safety policies 

and procedures are communicated via existing site 

intranets and daily start-of-shift meetings.

Port areas used for storing or handling mining materials 

are classified as mine sites under the Mines Safety and 

Inspection Act 1994. Accordingly, Southern Ports has 

established Health and Safety Committees which ensure 

Health and Safety Representatives elected by peers have 

a forum to recognise health and safety achievements and 

resolve any issues in collaboration with management. 

Injury management
In accordance with the Workers’ Compensation and 

Injury Management Act 1981, Southern Ports has 

developed and implemented an Injury Management 

system. The system ensures Southern Ports responds 

to employees’ work and non-work related injuries 

and diseases in a timely and appropriate manner. 

In collaboration with the injured employee, leader 

and medical practitioner, the Southern Ports Injury 

Management Coordinator develops return to work plans 

which seeks to ensure a graduated return to full duties.

Systems development and assessment
Southern Ports Health and Safety Management System 

provides a framework for continuous improvement in 

alignment with its “Right Systems” strategic theme and 

has further refined the system by mapping all processes 

against International Standard ISO45001. 

This work will continue under a new cross-organisational 

team to align the Health and Safety Management System 

across the three ports to a single, standardised model.

An OHSAS 18001 Occupational Health and Safety 

Management system assessment was completed by the 

Department of Mines and Petroleum across multiple 

Ports in 2016. At the time of reporting 85 per cent of the 

actions arising for this assessment had been completed.



RIGHT SYSTEMS 
Commentary (continued)

LOST TIME INJURY/DISEASE INCIDENCE RATE STATISTICS*

Measure Result FY15* Result FY17
WA State 

Government Target
Comment On 

FY17 Year

Number of fatalities Not applicable 0 0 

Lost time injury or disease incidence rate Not applicable 0.93

0 or 10% 
improvement 

on the previous 
three years



Lost time injury severity rate Not applicable 0

0 or 10% 
improvement 

on the previous 
three years



Percentage of injured 
workers returned to work

within 13 weeks Not applicable 50% Greater than or 
equal to 80% 

return to work 
within 26 weeks

O
within 26 weeks Not applicable 100% 

Percentage of managers and supervisors 
trained in occupational safety, health and 
injury management

Not applicable 0% Greater than or 
equal to 80% O

* Southern Ports was formed on 1 October 2014 with the merger of Albany and Esperance Port Authorities with Bunbury Port Authority (as the continuing authority). 
The reporting data for 2014/15 is based on a 12 month period for Bunbury and a nine month period for Albany and Esperance.
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Whilst a significant investment was been made in providing 

managers with health and safety training, an internal review 

has identified there was a misinterpretation of the requirements 

of the Public Sector Commissioner’s Circular 2012-05 with 

respect to Injury Management responsibilities training. A 

targeted training program addressing this requirement will be 

rolled out across Southern Ports.

Health and safety project highlights
Southern Ports is undertaking an organisation-wide Arc 

Flash Hazard Analysis Study to achieve and maintain legally 

compliant electricity supplies and equipment across all 

facilities.

An arc flash is an undesired electric discharge that travels 

through the air between conductors or from a conductor to the 

ground, potentially resulting in an explosion that can cause 

serious harm to equipment and people.

The study involved updating documentation, reviewing electrical 

infrastructure and training relevant staff with respect to arc 

flash hazards. 

The Esperance study was completed and implemented in April 

2016. The Bunbury study commenced in FY17 and the Albany 

study will directly follow. 

SECURITY MANAGEMENT
Southern Ports maintain Maritime Security Zones in accordance 

with the Maritime Transport and Offshore Facilities and Security 

Act 2003. 

Southern Ports continues to provide Maritime Security 

Identification Cards (MSIC) to port users through the issuing 

body offices located at each port. The MSIC issuing body 

plan was updated in May 2017 to incorporate the revised 

in-person verification and new categories of identification 

document requirements.

A strategic security collaborative was established in May 

2017 that provided each Port Security Officer with a central 

knowledge sharing forum across Southern Ports.

In Esperance, the Landside Restricted Zone was expanded 

to encompass all landside operational areas. 

Security infrastructure upgrades
An upgrade to the CCTV surveillance system was completed 

in Albany, providing the port with a modern, fibre-linked 

network of cameras with continuous monitoring of all port 

access gates, berths and the administration building. CCTV 

surveillance system upgrades were also progressed in 

Esperance to improve overall reliability.



SATISFIED CUSTOMERS

Southern Ports was pleased to announce the lowest increase in price 
for port users in five years. A 0.5 per cent across-the-board price 

increase came into effect on 1 July 2017, which was also the lowest 
increase announced by any Western Australian port authority for FY18.
The price increase was made possible by a forecasted 

reduction in operating costs due to improved efficiencies.

Customers in Bunbury and Esperance were further 

supported with a saving of about $2 million in tug boat 

fees, secured through a new licence with Mackenzie 

Marine and Towage to provide services at both ports (see 

case study). 

Port Users will benefit from streamlining the procedures 

to simplify contracts, which has been at the forefront of 

Southern Ports’ effort to meet customer expectations. 

As part of the process streamlining, Southern Ports 

is undergoing a comprehensive review of its suite of 

contract templates for all Southern Ports’ port users, 

service providers, lease and licence holders and other 

general contracting parties.

This includes issuing licences which provide port 

customers with greater choice of service providers and 

service costs driven by market forces.

The commercial team has also finalised a lease and 

contract register to improve coordination of renewals, 

extensions and annual rate adjustments. Existing and 

new documents are being added to the register.

In Albany, four aquaculture licences were extended for 

five years, and two licences extended for a decade under 

a new agreement for shellfish production in Albany’s 

King George Sound. The licences will support local 

award-winning business Great Southern Shellfish in the 

production of Southern Akoya oysters.

In Esperance, new trade has been secured including 

export of spodumene from Galaxy Resources’ project at 

Mt Cattlin; and copper and nickel bulk concentrates from 

IGO’s Nova operations, as well as the return of container 

ships and a new scheduled liner service decreasing 

transport costs.

New leasing and licencing arrangements entered into 

at the Albany Port and the Bunbury Port have been 

consistent with the Port of Albany Land Use Plan 

(June 2010) and the Port of Bunbury Inner Harbour 

Structure Plan (September 2009) respectively. A review 

of the Albany Land Use Plan and the Bunbury Inner 

Harbour Structure Plan commenced in 2016 and 2017 

respectively, as part of the rolling review of Southern 

Ports' Land Use Plans.

56

P
ER

FO
R

M
A

N
CE



The Voge Emma being loaded with an inaugural 
shipment from IGO’s Nova operations
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ASSET MAINTENANCE 
AND PORT DEVELOPMENT

Albany: Replacing a pile on Berth 2 
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port development projects to facilitate trade for existing and new 
customers. A significant number of projects were undertaken during the 
reporting period, including the following key projects.

ALBANY

Berth maintenance works projects 
(Berths 1, 2, 3 and 6)
Several medium and long term projects were 

completed at Albany to restore the structural strength 

and prevent deterioration of critical elements of 

berth infrastructure. The increased area of Berth 2 

returned to its design capacity and fender systems 

strengthened to reduce constraints to berthing. The 

works will ensure less downtime through failure of 

berth components from deterioration and reduction in 

areas requiring restricted loadings.

Installation of CCTV system 
To meet statutory requirements of the Federal 

Government the installation of a closed-circuit television 

system installed at Albany has improved security. The 

system addresses regulatory risk of non-compliance in 

the form of realtime and taped recordings of port activity 

at key locations and the ability to provide evidence 

to back up formal action against persons who have 

breached security regulations.

Inline inspection (intelligent pigging) of 
liquid petroleum pipeline 
An inline inspection of the Albany fuel pipeline to meet 

technical requirements of Southern Ports’ Pipeline 

Management system and regulatory requirements was 

conducted during the year. The inspection provided 

reliable information about the condition and risks of 

use of the pipeline during transfer of dangerous goods. 

Whilst the inspection provided assurance about the 

ongoing integrity of the asset, the subsequent inspection 

report documents operator data relevant to future 

engineering assessments.

BUNBURY

Inner harbour road infrastructure
The completion of Bunbury’s inner harbour road 

infrastructure realignment projects will future proof the 

Port’s potential for future harbour extensions and new 

trade facilitation. The improved road layout provides for 

separation of heavy haulage traffic for specific shipping 

activities and increased access to laydown areas 

providing for overall safer traffic management.



Albany: Ultra-high pressure blasting on Berth 2

Albany: Pile works on Berth 2 

Bunbury: Inner harbour road project
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Esperance: Berth 2 road project

Esperance: Fuel pipeline installation underway

Bunbury: Berth 8 refurbishment
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Berth 8 asset refurbishment
Bunbury’s Berth 8 infrastructure has undergone 

continual improvement over recent years with a focus 

on aging infrastructure and hazard identification. 

As part of the ongoing maintenance program works 

have commenced on the replacement of purlins 

and sheeting along the critical conveyor galleries 

and towers, replacement of an under conveyor 

drain system and completion of the structure 

refurbishment and subsidence mitigation works.  

A fit-for-purpose permanent transportable amenities 

building was installed alongside Berth 8 with safer 

access for operational personnel. The works program 

ensures safe and efficient operation of the multi-

purpose Berth 8 facility.

Dredging
This year’s maintenance dredging at Bunbury Port was 

run efficiently and effectively thanks to the thorough 

removal of dead sea grass prior to the start of dredging. 

Over 120,000 cubic metres of dredge material was 

removed during the three week campaign and deposited 

at the spoil ground, achieving a full draft of 11.6m in the 

port’s entry channel. The annual maintenance dredge 

enables safe and efficient vessel movements at Bunbury. 

ESPERANCE

Berth 1 fuel pipeline installation project
A second fuel pipeline branch was installed on Berth 1 at 

Esperance leading to cross operational benefits. The new 

pipeline provides for a second fuel discharge point which 

results in more efficient unloading activities by easing 

congestion at the existing discharge point on Berth 2. 

The second pipeline branch also provides better security 

of fuel supply to the Esperance-Goldfields region. An 

inspection of the existing pipeline at Berth 2 was carried 

out during the project to allow for remodelling to achieve 

safety and environmental improvements. Outcomes 

of the project will be included in the pending Pipeline 

Integrity Management Plan for Esperance Port.

Realignment of Berth 2 road project
Southern Ports – Esperance identified the need to remove 

remote storage of containers which bought increased 

heavy vehicle movements and increased interaction 

between road and rail users in the port. Realignment of 

the Berth 2 road has allowed for a significant increase for 

berth-side container storage, and improved safety and 

traffic management. 

Asset Management Plan
In line with the Asset Management Policy approved by 

the Board in March 2017, Southern Ports assets will be 

reviewed leading to a series of Asset Management Plans 

being developed for each major asset group. The first 

asset group to be reviewed was Navigational Aids at 

Esperance. The review identified the number and location 

of aids and ascertained the inspection and maintenance 

regimes including the need to maintain asset stock on 

hand. The Asset Management Plans for Albany and 

Bunbury will be rolled out progressively.



Bunbury: A successful dredging 
campaign was undertaken
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During FY17, Southern Ports 
established an impartial, 

transparent and repeatable 
system to measure stakeholder 
engagement across all 
stakeholder groups and regions. 
A baseline stakeholder survey was commissioned 

in August 2016 which allowed Southern Ports to 

develop a key performance indicator for stakeholder 

and community engagement. The annual June survey 

measured outcomes of our stakeholder engagement 

strategies against both the baseline figures and KPIs. 

The June survey revealed that Southern Ports corporate 

reputation of 52 on a scale of -100 to +100 was above the 

Australian national average of 46, and exceeded the key 

performance target set by the organisation to exceed 50.

The June 2017 survey results revealed stakeholders are 

highly engaged in Southern Ports’ strategy into the future 

and are open to greater engagement and consultation.

In both August 2016 and June 2017, most port users 

found Southern Ports pilotage and port utilities were 

adequate; the organisation was meeting expectations 

in relation to safety and strategy; and Southern Ports 

environmental performance in managing dust and noise 

was appropriate.

The June 2017 survey results were better across all 

regions and stakeholder groups against the baseline 

survey completed in August 2016 which recorded an 

overall reputational rate of 40. 

The August 2016 survey revealed that port users were 

critical of Southern Ports capacity to collaborate and 

communicate. Senior stakeholders in particular were 

keen to have more consultation to the future strategy at 

each port.

Senior stakeholders have been consulted about future 

expansion plans and provided detailed feedback on 

Southern Ports overall strategy and performance.

In addition, two dedicated roles were created to manage 

internal and external communications.

SATISFIED CUSTOMERS 
CASE STUDY
Customer Satisfaction Survey

Ships at berth  
in Esperance

BOTH SURVEYS ENGAGED MORE 
THAN 400 STAKEHOLDERS AND 
INVOLVED:

 » Quantitative 15-minute interviews 
with 100 residents in each town 
who live near the three ports 

 » About 25 interviews with senior 
stakeholders including port users, 
government and community 
leaders

 » Another 100 12-minute telephone 
interviews with other stakeholders.
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Combining the five metrics, Southern Ports achieved a 
corporate reputation score of 52, which is a significant 
improvement on last year and is now slightly above 
average for an Australian organisation.

TRI*M™ corporate reputation index

General 
Renown

Overall 
Reputation

Success 
Achieved

Efficient & 
Well-Managed

Favourable 
Impression

Trust

Competence 
(Rational Dimension)

Affinity 
(Emotional Dimension)

All Australian average: 46

Global Public Sector Average: 58

2016

40 52
40 50 60 70 80 90 100 11030

2017

SOURCE: B1-B5. 
Base: All stakeholders answering all 5 corporate 
reputation questions: (2016 n=127; 2017 n=130)



Ports Users at Bunbury and Esperance have shared in $2 million in 
savings per annum as a result of a combined towage tender issued 

by Southern Ports for both Esperance and Bunbury.
Esperance-based Mackenzie Marine and Towage were 

awarded the licence, under which:

 »  two new high-powered tugs were procured for 

Bunbury

 »  the local family-run business expanded

 »  Southern Ports gained greater flexibility in its tugs 

arrangements.

In late 2016, Southern Ports for the first time awarded a 

licence for the provision of tug services at both Bunbury 

and Esperance. 

A Southern Ports panel evaluated 35 proposals from 

12 respondents against more than 30 criteria, before 

awarding the tender to family-run business Mackenzie 

Marine and Towage (MMT). 

The MMT proposal represented overall value for money 

and was expected to reduce towage costs for port users 

by about 10 per cent, or a total of almost $2 million 

per annum. MMT had been operating at Southern 

Ports – Esperance for more than 40 years so the licence 

meant they could expand to Bunbury.

Under the agreement, MMT purchased two new high-

powered $9 million Damon tugboats with about 60 tonne 

bollard pull to be stationed in Bunbury. 

The new tugs are 50 per cent more powerful than the 

16-year-old vessels that had previously been used.

As a result of the licence, MMT has five high-powered 

tugs – three in Esperance and two in Bunbury. If one port 

is in need, it has been possible to move a tug from one 

place to another and continue facilitating trade.

The new tugs were christened the Cape Leeuwin and 

Cape Naturaliste after local marine landmarks, in line 

with MMT tradition. The Esperance tugs are the Shoal 

Cape, Hellfire Bay and Cape Pasley. The contract will 

expire in 2021.
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SATISFIED CUSTOMERS 
CASE STUDY 
Savings for Port Users from Towage Tender



CEO Nicolas Fertin at the launch 

of the new Bunbury tugs
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Southern Ports takes its responsibility to support the communities 
in which it operates seriously.

To that end, three major ongoing community-focused 

programs continued during FY17:

 »  Upkeep of heritage-listed properties

 »  Port Community Consultative Committees

 »  Southern Ports’ sponsorship of local events and 

activities

HERITAGE
Albany
Development of a Conservation Management Strategy 

for the heritage-listed Albany Pilot Station Cottages has 

begun. The strategy will provide Southern Ports with 

a practical tool for the continued maintenance of the 

significant heritage buildings.

Bunbury
The Leschenault Catchment Council was granted a 

lease to occupy the Leschenault Homestead in Bunbury. 

The not-for-profit Council has also been tasked with 

maintaining the heritage property in consultation with 

Southern Ports.

Esperance
Works undertaken by Southern Ports provided a 

structural refurbishment at the 1920s-era Taylor 

Street Tearooms prior to a change of management. The 

tearooms served as Esperance’s second hospital and 

doctors’ quarters.

OUTER HARBOUR OPEN DAY
On 22 January Southern Ports – Bunbury opened the 

gates to the Outer Harbour providing the community 

with the opportunity to visit the beach at McKenna Point 

and the port in a safe environment. Port operations 

ceased for the day to allow public access for the one-

day event. The area is usually restricted as it falls 

under legislation that requires a comprehensive 

security protocol. Southern Ports – Bunbury continues 

to work with local Stakeholders and community groups 

regarding the future of the Outer Harbour area under 

the State Government's proposed Transforming Bunbury 

Waterfront project.

COMMUNITY LEASES
In addition to its Corporate Sponsorship Program, 

Southern Ports also sponsors its communities by leasing 

properties within its boundaries with a stipulation that 

these properties cannot be used for trade facilitation.

SATISFIED COMMUNITIES

Leschenault Catchment 
Council receiving key to 
Homestead from General 
Manager Bunbury
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COMMUNITY TENANT
Albany 
 » Mission to Seafarers

 » Discovery Bay Tourism Experience

 » Princess Royal Sailing Club

 » Stella Maris

 » Albany Light Opera

 » City of Albany (Perth Dive Wreck)

 » City of Albany (Emu Point)

 » City of Albany (Shark Barrier)

Bunbury
 » Bunbury Sea Rescue Incorporated

 » Department of Water

 » South West Water Based Activity 

 » Western Tourist Radio

 » Leschenault Catchment Council

 » Riding for the Disabled Association

 » City of Bunbury Beach Viewing Platform 

and Carpark 

Esperance 
 » Esperance Bay Yacht Club

 » Adventureland Park

 » Department of Transport (Shark 

Monitoring Buoys)
Leschenault Homestead
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Under section 14A of the Port Authorities Act 1999, 

a community consultation committee is based at the 

site of each port to promote and facilitate information-

sharing and consultation between Southern Ports and 

members of the public.

Each committee operates under a board-approved 

charter, and includes a member of the relevant local 

government authority and minutes of the meetings are 

published on the individual port websites.

The committees provide Southern Ports with valuable 

advice on long-term strategic planning matters 

as well as feedback on day-to-day operations. As 

an organisation, Southern Ports is grateful to the 

time, passion and dedication demonstrated by the 

volunteers who comprise the community consultation 

committees. 

All committees were attended by Southern Ports chief 

executive Nicolas Fertin and other staff with expertise 

in health, safety, environment and security; media and 

communications; human resources; operations and 

maintenance; as well as guest presenters from port 

users such as Alcoa Australia.

ALBANY

Community Consultative Committee 
(CCC)
 » Meets: At least three times annually

 » Maximum membership: 25

 » Outgoing chair: Bruce Manning

“We were pleased to have the new Harbour Master who 

oversees all ports and is based in Albany regularly 

attend our meetings, along with a new General 

Manager appointed during the year.

The committee was kept well informed with regular 

briefings from relevant staff around key issues, 

inclusive of key environmental issues within the 

Port boundaries, infrastructure work and trends 

in trade including cruise shipping and overall Port 

performance.”

Bruce Manning, outgoing Chair

SATISFIED COMMUNITIES 
Port Community Consultation Committees
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Bunbury PCLC visiting new tugs

BUNBURY 

Port Community Liaison Committee (PCLC)
 »  Meets: Six times annually 

 »  Maximum membership: 15

 »  Chair: John Saunders

“The committee toured the two new tugboats purchased 

under a new contract with Mackenzie Marine and Towage 

which showed us first-hand some of the real benefits that 

have come from the combined procurement power of an 

amalgamated organisation.

I am confident Southern Ports – Bunbury continues to be 

aware of the local community’s perspective and opinions 

and we have seen the port fine-tune operations and future 

plans to deliver better economic, environmental and social 

outcomes as a result of our input.”

John Saunders, Chair

ESPERANCE

Port Consultative Committee (PCC)
 »  Meets: Four times annually*

 »  Maximum membership: 12

 » Chair: Brett Thorp

“During the FY17, the committee continued to be kept 

appraised of changes to port operations particularly relevant 

to environmental impact and new trade proposed. A port 

tour was undertaken during the year by the committee to 

view operations. As Chairman, I also undertook a further site 

visit to view the quality of the new spodumene product to be 

exported, given the committee’s previous involvement with 

this trade. 

I am confident Southern Ports – Esperance continues to be 

aware of the local community’s perspective and opinions 

through feedback provided by the committee. In turn, 

the Port continues to liaise with the committee on port 

developments and future plans, which culminated in the 

successful introduction of improved technology to export 

product including spodumene, copper concentrate and 

nickel concentrate. This will lead to better economic and 

social outcomes for the community, without compromising 

environmental standards.”

Brett Thorp, Chair

*The committee usually meets a minimum of four times annually. However, only 
three meetings occurred during FY17 due to the availability of members.
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Southern Ports supported a diverse array of more than 80 community 
events and activities through its $270,000 Corporate Sponsorship 

Program in FY17. 
A budget is allocated during the year to support local 

projects with a focus on marine activities, community 

events or infrastructure, environment, indigenous 

relations and education.

Southern Ports will continue to fund and support 

activities across the regions. 

HIGHLIGHTS

Albany 
Southern MTB Festival, 
September 24-25, 2016
Southern Ports was a supporting partner of the Southern 

MTB Festival which took place in September 2016. 

The event included Australia’s only urban downhill 

course through the city streets and was watched by a 

10,000-strong crowd. Riders also negotiated a course 

which took them over two sea containers to clear a fence. 

Multiple Sclerosis WA Albany Swim 2017, 
March 18, 2017
Southern Ports continued to support the Multiple 

Sclerosis WA Albany Swim fundraising event held in 

March 2017 at the Albany Leisure and Aquatic Centre. 

The event consisted of ten teams competing to swim 

the longest distance in an eight-hour period. The 98 

participants raised funds to support people living with all 

neurological conditions in the Great Southern region.

Bunbury school children 
participating in the Discovery Day

Families enjoying 
Bunbury Christmas 

Carnival 2016SATISFIED COMMUNITIES 
Corporate Sponsorship Program
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Festival of the Sea 
April 15, 2017
The ninth annual Festival of the Sea, held in April 

2017, was sponsored by Southern Ports – Albany. The 

community event which attracted an estimated 3000 

people was held in the Albany Boatshed on the Albany 

harbour foreshore and celebrates the WA fishing and 

seafood industry through cooking demonstrations, a boat 

building competition and local artisan stalls.

Bunbury

Undalup Association Inc – Birak Festival 
January 12-14, 2017
Southern Ports supported the Undalup Birak Festival 

held in Busselton over a three day period in January 

2017. The Festival included a series of cultural 

workshops, traditional dance technics and a film festival 

showcasing Australian Aboriginal movies. The festival 

united many local Aboriginal people with the local 

traditional and cultural custodians of Wadandi Boodja.

Science & Engineering Challenge and Discovery Day 
April 3-5, 2017
Over 730 primary and high school students participated 

in a three day science and engineering challenge 

sponsored by Southern Ports. The regional event 

focused on a series of activities in the fields of science, 

technology, engineering and maths presented by 

representatives from the University of Newcastle, 

culminating in a points-based competition each day 

with prizes awarded to the highest achieving schools. 

The winning schools were Geographe Primary School, 

Bunbury Cathedral Grammar and Bunbury Catholic 

College.

Christmas in the City 2016 
December 11, 2016
Every December the City of Bunbury hosts a fully 

inclusive, accessible and free community event to 

celebrate the Christmas season. The festival in three 

parts includes a festival, street parade and carols 

concert held in the inner city streets of Bunbury. 

Southern Ports supported the regional event, which 

attracted an estimated crowd of 8000-10,000.

Esperance

Esperance Festival Illumination Project 
December 2016
The town of Esperance was noticeably brighter during 

the Christmas festivities following funding provided to 

the Shire of Esperance to purchase a new illuminated 

Christmas tree and street decorations.

Apex Port Tours 
Year round
The Esperance community and visitors are able to 

undertake a free tour of the Port thanks to a sponsorship 

arrangement with the Apex Club of Esperance and 

Southern Ports – Esperance. Tour attendees now ride in 

more comfort following the purchase of a new bus with 

a little assistance from Southern Ports. The Esperance 

Volunteer Fire and Rescue Service, working together 

with the Apex Club of Esperance provide the tours every 

Saturday at 1:30pm.  

Esperance Volunteer Sea Rescue scoopa 
June 2017
Funding was provided to the Esperance Volunteer Marine 

Rescue organisation to assist with the purchase of a sea 

scoopa device to be fitted to their new dedicated rescue 

boat. The sea scoopa solves the difficult task of capturing 

and hoisting a man overboard to safety during a rescue 

operation.
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Rider at Southern MTB Festival
“Bindjareb Middar Troupe” led by Cultural 
Custodian Theo Kearing at the Birak festival



Tony Wagenknecht at the 
Tommy Windich memorial

SATISFIED COMMUNITIES 
CASE STUDY 
Tommy Windich Memorial Precinct
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precinct to recognise the final resting place of well-known Aboriginal 
tracker Tommy Windich, who died in Esperance in 1876.

The project was part of the $9.25 million stage two upgrade to Hughes 
Road to improve heavy vehicle access to Esperance port.
In February 2017 a cultural precinct marking the final resting 

place of high-profile Ballardong man Tommy Windich, who was 

known for working with Alexander and John Forrest during 

exploration in the 1800s, was opened.

Southern Ports invested about $125,000 over six months in the 

project to design, build and install the viewing platform at the 

grave site. Staff described the project as a fulfilling experience 

and a privilege to work closely with the Esperance Tjaltjraak 

Native Title Aboriginal Corporation.

Funding for the project represented about 1.4 per cent of the 

total budget for the Hughes Road Upgrade Stage 2. 

The grave site of Mr Windich had long been a matter of 

speculation until, as part of the works for Hughes Road, 

Southern Ports partnered with Esperance Tjaltjraak Native 

Title Aboriginal Corporation and ground-penetrating radar was 

deployed to identify the likely grave site.

Nyoongar custodian and elder Doc Reynolds worked with 

archaeologist David Guilfoyle to find the gravesite, and later 

commended Southern Ports for its support, telling ABC local 

radio staff had been “fantastic” in correcting the wrong of the 

lost grave.

Southern Ports’ input included everything from surveys to 

lighting, 3D model design, steel fabrication and labour.



Tommy Windich memorial unveiling
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Southern Ports – Esperance has not been sufficiently competitive to 
win stevedoring work for trade commodities such as copper, nickel, 

spodumene, fertiliser and woodchips, meaning some port customers 
have contracted commercial providers to undertake logistics services 
from mine to ship, including ship loading and unloading.
This has resulted in Southern Ports calling for 

expressions of interest for voluntary redundancies from 

Esperance port Landside Restricted Zone employees on  

26 July 2017.

In addition to the above, one of Southern Ports’ biggest 

customers, First Quantum Minerals Ltd announced on 

9 August 2017 the suspension of nickel operations in 

Ravensthorpe. First Quantum Minerals is expected to 

go into care and maintenance by the start of September 

2017. This announcement is expected to impact on 

operations at Southern Ports – Esperance in FY18 and any 

subsequent years that the nickel operations are in care 

and maintenance.

Southern Ports is exploring every opportunity to become 

competitive in the open market. This involves engaging 

the staff and their representatives on those avenues 

available to develop an efficient and effective business 

model.

EMERGING 
ISSUES

ESPERANCE STEVEDORING SERVICES
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BUNBURY OUTER HARBOUR

DIVIDEND PAYMENT

Bunbury Outer Harbour is vested to Southern Ports to facilitate 
trade. Southern Ports continues to work collaboratively with local 

stakeholders and Port Users to facilitate the State’s Transforming 
Bunbury Waterfront project.
Southern Ports understands there is significant 

community interest in relocating the trade from the 

Outer Harbour and has developed a trade relocation plan 

that would allow the port to exit the landside. Trade and 

related infrastructure will only be relocated to the Inner 

Harbour following securing funding, board approval and 

Ministerial assent.

On the 29 August 2017, Southern Ports was informed 

that, in accordance with Section 84(1)(a)(ii) of the Port 

Authorities Act 1999 and with the prior concurrence 

of the Treasurer, in addition to Cabinet endorsement, 

the Minister for Transport determined that an annual 

dividend payout ratio of 100 per cent of net profit after 

tax will apply in respect of the Southern Ports Authority’s 

operations for 2016-17 to 2020-21 inclusive. Thereafter, 

the payout ratio will be 75 per cent of the annual net 

profit after tax.



DIRECTOR MEETINGS
During the financial year, Directors attended the following Board and Committee meetings. The graph below denotes the number 

of meetings held during the financial year and the number of attendances by Directors at the respective meetings.
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Total Meetings Held 11 7 3 4 4 3 6 3

Robert Cole 11 6** 3

Neema Premji 10 7 3 1

Anthony Willinge 11 6

Carolyn Porter 11 4 4 1 1

Gary Wood 11 4

Peter Iancov 10 3*

Phillip Chalmer 11 4 2

*P Iancov was only eligible to attend three meetings due to his appointment to the committee being made late 2016.
**R Cole attended the Audit and Risk Committee as an ex officio member.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
There were no significant changes in the nature of the 

activities undertaken by Southern Ports during the 

reporting period.

THE PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES OF 
SOUTHERN PORTS ARE TO:
 » Foster and facilitate trade in a safe and efficient 

manner;

 »  Provide port facilities and services as required;

 »  Undertake operations in an environmentally 

conscious manner; and

 »  Provide for the needs of current and potential new 

customers through the planning and co-ordination 

of future port developments.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
Southern Ports’ consolidated trade performance for the 

financial year was a total of 37.332 million tonnes. Major 

imports were caustic soda and sulphur, with iron ore, 

alumina and grain being the major export products.

REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS FY17
The profit for FY17 before income tax was $40.606 

million.

The income tax expense attributable to the profit for the 

financial year was $12.235 million.

DIVIDENDS
Dividends paid by Southern Ports and approved by the 

Shareholder since the end of the previous financial year 

were $6,278,772 paid on 12 December 2016 as the FY16 

final dividend.

STATE OF AFFAIRS
There were no significant changes in the state of affairs 

of Southern Ports during the financial year under 

review. Southern Ports operates in Western Australia 

under the provisions of the Port Authorities Act 1999.76
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EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING 
DATE
Directors together with Management have extensively 

deliberated over the loss of stevedoring business in 

Esperance. An expression of interest in voluntary 

redundancy was announced on 26 July 2017 to staff. On 

9 August 2017, First Quantum Minerals Ltd announced its 

intention to place the Ravensthorpe Nickel Operation on 

care and maintenance. The outcomes of the expression 

of interest and the consequence on Southern Ports of 

First Quantum Minerals Ltd announcement may create a 

material impact on forthcoming years.

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND 
EXPECTED RESULTS
Southern Ports will continue to work closely with 

customers and stakeholders to fulfil its trade 

facilitation role and meet the needs of our current and 

future customers.

EMOLUMENTS
The Minister establishes the remuneration paid to 

Directors and with the approval of the Minister and 

subject to the Salaries and Allowances Act 1975, 

Directors determine the remuneration package of the 

Chief Executive Officer.

The Chief Executive Officer, together with the Board, 

determines the terms and conditions of employment, 

including remuneration packages, of the senior 

executives. The performance of the Chief Executive 

Officer and senior executives is monitored against 

agreed criteria.

The remuneration and terms and conditions of 

employment for other staff are delegated to the Human 

Resources Committee and Chief Executive Officer, who 

ensures such terms and conditions are not less than 

the National Employment Standards contained in the 

Fair Work Act 2009 (Cth) and the Minimum Conditions of 

Employment Act 1993 (WA).

In accordance with clause 13(c)(ii) of Schedule 5 of the 

Port Authorities Act 1999, the nature and amount of 

each major element of remuneration of each Director of 

Southern Ports and each of the three named officers who 

received the highest remuneration are reported below.

DIRECTOR EMOLUMENTS
Details of emoluments provided to Southern Ports 

Directors during FY17.

All Directors were members of the Board for the entire 

reporting period.

Director
Board & 

Committee 
Sitting Fee

Super 
-annuation Total

P Chalmer $34,834 $3,309 $38,143

R Cole $69,344 $6,588 $75,932

P Iancov $32,292 $3,068 $35,360

C Porter $40,865 $3,882 $44,747

N Premji $47,902 $4,551 $52,453

A Willinge $32,292 $3,068 $35,360

G Wood $34,834 $3,309 $38,143

DIRECTOR’S BENEFITS
No Director of Southern Ports has received benefits or 

became entitled to receive any benefit (other than a benefit 

included in the total amount of emoluments received or 

due and receivable by Directors) by reason of a contract 

made with the Director, or with a firm of which the Director 

is a member, or with an entity in which the Director has a 

substantial interest.

OFFICER EMOLUMENTS
Details of emoluments provided to Southern Ports three 

highest remunerated officers during FY17.

Officer Salary

Super 
+ other 

benefits Total*

R Liley 
Senior Marine Pilot

$361,551 $34,347 $395,898

N Fertin 
Chief Executive 
Officer

$347,796 $33,041 $380,837

R Lovell 
Deputy Harbour 
Master

$285,284 $27,102 $312,386

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION
Under the Port Authorities Act 1999, Southern Ports 

is also required to “protect the environment of the 

port and minimise the impact of port activities on that 

environment”. Southern Ports’ operations are subject 

to regulation under both Commonwealth and State 

environmental legislation applicable to any Australian 

commercial entity.
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ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT
Southern Ports is committed to managing an environmentally 

responsible organisation. This commitment is reflected in 

the values and corporate priorities of Southern Ports by 

undertaking a number of environmental programs to meet 

Ministerial conditions associated with port operations. Reports 

detailing findings and recommendations on these monitoring 

programs are submitted for review and approval by the 

Department of Environment. Further details on Southern 

Ports’ Environmental Management System are available within 

this annual report.

ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS TO NEAREST 
THOUSAND DOLLARS
Amounts have been rounded off to the nearest thousand 

dollars in the Directors’ Report and Financial Statements.

This report is made with a resolution of Directors on  

25 August 2017.

Robert Cole, Chair 

Western Australia

Neema Premji, Deputy Chair 

Western Australia

Directors Declaration 

In the opinion of the Directors of the Southern Ports Authority: 

(a) the financial statements and notes for the period ending 30 June 2017 comply with 
Australian Accounting Standards; and 

(b) the financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the financial position of 
the Southern Ports Authority as at 30 June 2017 and of its performance, as 
represented by the results of its operations and its cash flows for the financial year 
ended on that date; and 

(c) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Southern Ports Authority will be able 
to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable; and 

(d) the financial notes and statements are in accordance with the Port Authorities Act 
1999. 

This declaration is signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 25 August 
2017. 

R COLE 
Chair 

N PREMJI 
Deputy Chair 

Western Australia 25 August 2017 

Directors Declaration 

In the opinion of the Directors of the Southern Ports Authority: 

(a) the financial statements and notes for the period ending 30 June 2017 comply with 
Australian Accounting Standards; and 

(b) the financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the financial position of 
the Southern Ports Authority as at 30 June 2017 and of its performance, as 
represented by the results of its operations and its cash flows for the financial year 
ended on that date; and 

(c) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Southern Ports Authority will be able 
to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable; and 

(d) the financial notes and statements are in accordance with the Port Authorities Act 
1999. 

This declaration is signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 25 August 
2017. 

R COLE 
Chair 

N PREMJI 
Deputy Chair 

Western Australia 25 August 2017 
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LEGISLATIVE FRAMEWORK
Responsible Minister:

Hon Rita Saffioti MLA 
Minister for Transport; Planning; Lands 

Enabling Legislation 
Port Authorities Act 1999

Legislation Administered 
Port Authorities Act 1999

The Port Authorities of Western Australia function 

as corporatised entities with a Board of Management 

which reports to the Minister for Transport and are 

administered under the Port Authorities Act 1999 

(Act). The Act provides the role for Port Authorities in 

facilitating trade in a commercially responsible manner 

and establishes clear lines of accountability with the 

State Government. Southern Ports, as per the Act, has 

a duty to act on commercial principles. Under the Act, 

Southern Ports has the powers to perform specific 

functions, as well as the power to hold and dispose of 

assets and enter into commercial arrangements. The 

Act exempts Southern Ports from the Public Sector 

Management Act 1994, however Southern Ports is 

required to put in place minimum standards that reflect 

the principles of the Public Sector Management Act 

1994 and to report annually to the Commissioner for 

Public Standards.

The Act adopts financial reporting provisions 

equivalent to those of Corporations Law and exempts 

Southern Ports from the Financial Management Act 

2006, with the exception of audit provisions, which 

means that the Auditor General continues to conduct 

annual audits.

The following list, which is not absolute, represents 

other key compliance legislation.

 »  Corruption Crime and Misconduct Act 2003
 »  Disability Services Act 1993
 »  Electoral Act 1907
 »  Environmental Protection Act 1986
 »  Equal Opportunity Act 1984
 »  Fair Work Act 2009
 »  Financial Management Act 2006
 »  Freedom of Information Act 1992

 »  Industrial Relations Act 1979
 » Maritime Transport and Offshore Facilities Security 

Act 2003
 »  Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993
 »  Mines Safety and Inspection Act 1994
 »  Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984
 »  Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003
 »  Public Sector Management Act 1994
 »  Salaries and Allowances Act 1975
 »  State Records Act 2000

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board consists of seven non-executive Directors, 

who are appointed by the Minister for Transport for 

terms of up to three years and Directors are eligible 

for reappointment. The Minister also appoints the Chair 

and the Deputy Chair positions. The Board reports to 

the Minister regularly against Southern Ports’ Strategic 

Development Plan and key operational items.

The responsibilities and powers of the Board and the 

responsibilities and powers of the Chief Executive 

Officer, (who is appointed by the Board with the 

Minister's approval), are set out in the Act.

Information on Directors experience and skills are 

included in Overview – Our Directors.

ROLE AND ACTIVITIES OF THE BOARD
The role of the Board is to perform the functions and 

control the affairs of Southern Ports and includes 

policy formulation and compliance and ensures 

Southern Ports proactively addresses internal controls 

and risk management issues.

Directors set the strategic goals for Management 

and monitor the execution of those goals. The Board 

endorses the objectives of the five-year Strategic 

Development Plan and an annual Statement of 

Corporate Intent which requires approval by the 

Minister. The Board performs these functions by 

offering leadership, corporate governance and 

providing strategic direction to Southern Ports staff.

SOUTHERN PORTS ANNUAL REPORT 2017
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Board meetings are held on a monthly basis and as 

required during the year, when extraordinary or special 

meetings may be called. One extraordinary meeting 

was held during the year in September 2016. Directors 

held five regional Board meetings during the 2017 

financial year: two each in Albany, Bunbury and one 

in Esperance. Directors take the opportunity while at 

regional ports to meet with the local stakeholders in 

the regional area. 

Community Consultative Committees have been 

established at each Port and are administered by 

the Board through the means of a Charter, with an 

independent Chair overseeing the meeting process. 

Directors attend meetings when available.

The role of the Community Consultative Committee is 

to promote the flow of information and communication 

with the general public and to provide an environment 

in which comments from the Community can be 

received by Southern Ports. The Board encourages 

the Community to liaise with their regional Community 

Consultative Committee Chair regarding concerns 

or comments they may wish to bring to the Board's 

attention. Contact details are located on the Southern 

Ports website contact page.

INDEPENDENT PROFESSIONAL ADVICE
The Chair may approve Directors to seek external 

professional advice when required to perform their 

duties as a Director, at the expense of Southern Ports.

DIRECTOR’S CODE
The Corporate Governance Manual identifies the 

minimum standards of conduct required of all 

Directors of Southern Ports in carrying out their 

duties and responsibilities and covers professional 

and personal behaviour, communication and official 

information. The Manual includes Southern Ports’ Code 

of Conduct, the ASX Corporate Governance Principles 

and Recommendations 3rd edition and the Western 

Australian Public Sector Commission guidelines.

COMPLIANCE WITH PUBLIC SECTOR 
STANDARDS AND ETHICAL CODES
The Act requires the Board to prepare and issue a 

Code of Conduct aligned with the guidelines issued by 

the Public Sector Commissioner. The Board approved 

the Code of Conduct in May 2016. The Code applies 

to Directors and Employees of Southern Ports, 

Contractors and their Employees and representatives 

and visitors engaging in any Southern Ports-related 

activity.

All Directors and Employees are provided with a copy 

of the Code of Conduct and the document is provided at 

the induction process of new Employees.

The Code of Conduct is promoted via Southern Ports 

intranet service and at all office locations.

AUDIT SYSTEMS AND PROCESSES

Audit and Risk Committee
The Audit and Risk Committee operates under a formal 

Charter that is reviewed and approved by the Board. 

The Charter was under review at the time of preparing 

the Annual Report. Two Directors are appointed to the 

Committee, with one being appointed as the Committee 

Chair. Management is also represented with the Chief 

Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer attending 

regular meetings.

The Committee’s primary function is  
to ensure:

 »  the internal audit function is operating effectively, 

independently and in accordance with the 

Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal 

Auditing with appropriate internal controls in place 

and recommendations and concerns of the external 

Auditor are implemented in a timely manner

 »  Southern Ports’ risk appetite is defined, set by 

the Board and clearly articulated and systems 

are in place to ensure the full range of actual or 

potential risk exposures which are material to 

Southern Ports are identified and are considered 

by Management, the Board and relevant Board 

Committees as appropriate

 »  Southern Ports develops, implements and monitors 

effective risk management systems and mitigation 

strategies and extreme and high level risks are 

assessed and overseen by the Board.

INTERNAL AUDIT
Southern Ports engages an independent Consultant to 

undertake internal audits and provide an appraisal on 

the effectiveness of operations and control systems. 

The outcomes of an audit provide guidance to the 

Board on the effectiveness of Southern Ports’ risk 

management, control and governance processes.
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EXTERNAL AUDIT
In compliance with the Port Authorities Act 1999, Southern 

Ports’ financial reports for the financial year have been 

audited by the Auditor General. The external audit is 

outsourced to KPMG as appointed by the Office of the Auditor 

General.

RISK MANAGEMENT
Southern Ports recognises that effective Risk Management 

at all levels of the organisation is a core element of 

corporate governance, is necessary for the achievement of 

organisational objectives and opportunities to be realised. A 

Risk Management Framework that ensures the organisation-

wide systematic identification, assessment and management 

of key risks that could prevent the organisation from achieving 

its Vision and Mission was established in FY16, with further 

development in FY17 to streamline risk management 

processes.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT ACT 2006
Section 91 of the Act gives effect to Schedule 5 of the 

Act which contains provisions substantially based upon 

Corporations Law in relation to financial administration and 

audit. The provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 

are limited to the application of the audit process only.
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The following are the disclosures required in 

accordance with legislation and government polices.

MINISTERIAL DIRECTIVES
The Minister may give directions in writing to the Board 

of Directors with respect to the performance of the 

functions prescribed by legislation.

There were no Ministerial directives during the year.

RECORDKEEPING
The objectives of our Southern Ports Recordkeeping 

Plan are to ensure:

 »  Compliance with Section 19 of the State Records 

Act 2000 as amended from time to time;

 »  Recordkeeping within the organisation is 

moving towards compliance with State Records 

Commission Standards and Records Management 

Standard AS ISO 15489;

 »  Processes are in place to facilitate the complete 

and accurate record of business transactions and 

decisions;

 »  Recorded information can be retrieved quickly, 

accurately and cheaply when required; and 

 »  The protection and preservation of the 

organisation’s records.

The Recordkeeping Plan applies to all Southern 

Ports employees, and contractors and organisations 

performing outsourced services on behalf of 

Southern Ports.

Currently Southern Ports operates three different 

records management systems across four locations.  

Amendments to the State Records Act 2000 and 

subsequent amendments to the Southern Ports 

Recordkeeping Plan are provided to users of the 

records management systems to ensure continued 

compliance with the Southern Ports Recordkeeping 

Plan and Records Management Policy. Periodical 

training is also provided to staff to maintain their 

understanding of their legal responsibility to comply 

with the Recordkeeping Plan.

All staff members have access to electronic copies of 

the Southern Ports Recordkeeping Plan and Records 

Management Policy. Training is provided in using the 

relevant records management system at their location.

Performance indicators will be developed by the 

General Manager People and Organisation to measure 

the efficiency and effectiveness of the recordkeeping 

systems following the implementation of the single 

management system.

The Recordkeeping Plan is continually reviewed 

for appropriateness to meet the business needs of 

Southern Ports and Management together with key 

staff work towards the development of an efficient and 

effective records management system.

Management has identified and continues to further 

develop generic policies and procedures, a single 

records management system, storage reviews and the 

creation of a single disaster management plan.  

In keeping with the Southern Ports Recordkeeping 

Plan, the requirement to report to the Minister for 

Transport on the compliance with the Recordkeeping 

Plan is noted within this commentary and therefore 

forms the required submission.

EXPENDITURE ON ADVERTISING, 
MARKET RESEARCH, POLLING AND 
DIRECT MAIL
Expenditure Category 
& Company Name FY17 Amount

Advertising Agencies Nil

Market Research Organisations Nil

Polling Organisations Nil

Direct Mail Organisations

Tenderlink $4,200

Media Advertising Organisations

Albany & Great Southern 

Weekender

$2,413

Fairfax Media $6,338

News Corp Australia Pty Ltd $9,300

West Australian Newspapers $5,386

Seek $6,912

TOTAL $34,549
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FREEDOM OF INFORMATION
Southern Ports is required to publish annual 

information statements either as stand-alone 

documents or in its annual reports. Southern Ports 

has chosen to incorporate its Freedom of Information 

Statement in this Annual Report.

Where possible, information held by Southern Ports 

will be made available on an informal basis and at no 

charge. Publications released during the reporting 

period were:

The 2016 Annual Report 

Port Talk Community Newsletters

Other information is available via Southern Ports’ web 

site at southernports.com.au

Under the Freedom of Information Act 1992 Southern 

Ports is required to respond to applications for 

information within 45 days of receipt, unless an 

extension of time is granted. A formal application for 

information must be:

 » in writing and give enough information to enable the 

requested documents to be identified;

 » give an Australian address to which notices can be 

sent;

 » accompanied by a $30 application fee, unless the 

information relates to a personal matter which is free 

of charge. An additional charge may apply for the 

processing of non-personal information. The fee is 

reduced by 25 per cent for pensioners and financially 

disadvantaged persons; and 

 » addressed to the Southern Ports Freedom of 

Information Act (FOI) Coordinator as follows:

FOI Coordinator 

Southern Ports 

PO Box 1049 

WEST PERTH WA 6872

Southern Ports FOI Coordinator received three 

Freedom of Information access applications during the 

reporting period.

OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY, HEALTH AND 
INJURY MANAGEMENT

The Board is committed to providing a safe and 

healthy work environment for all people involved 

with Port related activities within Southern Ports 

controlled areas on land and water, and to ensure 

injury management procedures address employees’ 

work and non-work related injuries to support their 

individual needs.

Southern Ports is committed to:

 » safety taking uncompromised priority when we work 

and ensuring individuals and teams are accountable 

and responsible for their personal safety and the 

safety of others;

 »  promoting a fair and just culture that encourages 

everyone to report and facilitates investigations of 

unsafe acts and incidents with honesty and integrity 

and identifying hazards and managing health and 

safety risks to prevent injury and damage – all 

injuries are preventable;

 »  providing resources, training and support to meet 

safety objectives and setting and reviewing health 

and safety performance indicators and targets;

 »  continuously improving our safety systems to exceed 

our targets while being guided by AS/NZS 4801 

Occupational Health and Safety Management Systems 

and complying with all applicable safety legislation;

 »  ensuring the safety and health principles are 

communicated effectively to all employees and 

ensuring the Health and Safety Policy is available to 

interested third parties.

The Health and Safety Policy is reviewed and endorsed 

by the Board, and sets the strategies Southern 

Ports will follow to achieve its health and safety 

commitments. The Policy was under review at the time 

of writing the Annual Report. An Injury Management 

System is being developed to support Southern Ports 

Human Resources Policy.

A detailed report on health and safety is provided 

under Performance – Right Systems.
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 30 June 2017 

Income  Note

Restated*

2017  
($'000)

2016 
 ($'000)

Revenue 4 131,045 132,843 

Other income 5 7,906 7,507 

Expenditure

Employee benefits expense 7 (29,826) (32,082)

Contracts and Services (31,043) (29,908)

Utilities (10,485) (10,224)

Depreciation 6 (8,518) (10,085) 

Impairment 15 - (2,396)

Materials and Supplies (7,668) (7,691)

Government Charges (4,598) (3,820)

Finance Costs 8 (2,606) (3,139)

Insurance (1,394) (1,479)

Other expenses 9 (2,149) (1,458)

Profit before income tax 40,664 38,068

Income tax expense 10 (12,235) (11,497)

Profit for the year 28,429 26,571 

Other Comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified to profit and loss - -

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit and loss - -

Defined benefit plan actuarial gain/(losses) (53) (59)

Tax on items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss 10 16 18

Total comprehensive income for the year 28,392 26,530

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements  
* 2016 comparatives have been restated. Refer to note 1(b) for more information.
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The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 30 June 2017

Assets  Note
2017  

($'000)
2016  

($'000)

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 12(i) 96,811 83,524 

Other financial assets 12(ii) - 2,326 

Trade and other receivables 13 17,911 20,284

Inventories 14 3,545 2,822

Total Current Assets 118,267 108,956

Non-Current Assets
Deferred tax assets 10 498 310

Property, plant and equipment 15 147,288 141,539

Trade and other receivables 13 12,454 15,202

Inventories 14 3,120 2,850

Total Non-Current Assets 163,360 159,901

Total Assets 281,627 268,857 

Liabilities

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables 16 6,593 8,159

Interest bearing borrowings 17 7,414 7,880

Current tax liabilities 10 1,624 1,953

Provisions 18 6,175 7,348

Total Current Liabilities 21,806 25,340

Non-Current Liabilities
Interest bearing borrowings 17 26,313 33,727

Provisions 18 1,557 2,162

Total Non-Current Liabilities 27,870 35,889

Total Liabilities 49,676 61,229

Net Assets 231,951 207,628

Equity

Reserves 19 14,815 14,815

Contributed equity 88,991 86,781

Retained earnings 128,145 106,032

Total Equity 231,951 207,628 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 30 June 2017

Note
Reserves 

($'000)

Contributed  
Equity 

 ($'000)

Retained 
Earnings 

($'000)
Total 

($'000)

Balance at 1 July 2015 14,815 84,700 95,163 194,678

Profit for the period - - 26,571 26,571

Total other comprehensive income - - (41) (41)

Total comprehensive income - - 26,530 26,530

Transactions with owners

Equity injection - 2,081 - 2,081

Dividends paid 11 - - (15,661) (15,661)

Balance at 30 June 2016 14,815 86,781 106,032 207,628

Balance at 1 July 2016 14,815 86,781 106,032 207,628

Profit for the period - - 28,429 28,429

Total other comprehensive income - - (37) (37)

Total comprehensive income - - 28,392 28,392

Transactions with owners

Equity injection - 2,210 - 2,210

Dividends paid 11 - - (6,279) (6,279)

Balance at 30 June 2017 14,815 88,991 128,145 231,951

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 30 June 2017

Cash flows from operating activities Note
2017  

($’000)
2016  

($’000)

Cash receipts from customers 138,176 144,230

Cash paid to suppliers and employees (92,416) (90,878)

Cash generated from operations 45,760 53,552

Interest paid (2,664) (3,143)

Income tax (paid)/refunded (12,735) (13,678)

Net cash provided by operating activities 20 30,361 36,531

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received 2,178 2,450

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and 
equipment 916 267

Payment received from finance lease 4,991 5,838

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (15,538) (9,568)

Fixed deposits 2,328 22,359

Net cash used in investing activities (5,125) 21,346

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of borrowings (7,880) (7,892)

Dividends paid (6,279) (15,661)

Cash contribution from Government 2,210 2,081

Net cash used in financing activities (11,949) (21,472)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 13,287 36,405

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July 83,524 47,119

Cash and cash equivalents 30 June 20 96,811 83,524

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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NOTE 1 – Basis of Preparation

(a) Statement of compliance
  Southern Ports Authority (“The Authority”) is a 

not-for-profit entity that prepares general purpose 

financial statements in accordance with Australian 

Accounting Standards (AASBs) adopted by the 

Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) 

and the financial reporting provisions of the Port 

Authorities Act 1999.

  The financial statements were authorised for issue 

on 23 August 2017 by the Board of Directors of the 

Authority.

(b)  Presentation of the statement of comprehensive 
income

  During 2015-16 a Chart of Account alignment between 

the three ports was undertaken.  As part of this 

undertaking a review of the Authorities’ reporting 

structure was conducted. This has led to the 

Authority modifying the classification of revenue and 

expenses by nature rather than function.

  According to AASB 101 Presentation of Financial 

Statements, expenses classified by nature are not 

reallocated among various functions within the entity. 

In the prior year the Authority allocated employee 

expenses to various line items on the Statement of 

Comprehensive Income. However, the new chart 

of accounts has enabled alignment with AASB 101 

Presentation of Financial Statements.

  In accordance with AASB 101 Presentation of 

Financial Statements the Authority has reclassified 

the comparative information in the financial 

statements to be consistent with the expense 

classification by nature.

  This change in presentation has had no effect on the 

net profit, net assets or total equity of the Authority. 

However, comparative information for the Statement 

of Comprehensive Income 2016 is presented below:

FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS  
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2017

As reported previously  
30 June 2016  ($'000)

Effect of change in 
classification ($'000)

Restated 2016 
 ($'000)

Income

Revenue 132,647 196 132,843

Other Income 7,702 (195) 7,507

Expenditure

Marine Expenses (5,173) 5,173 -

Port Operations Expense (26,633) 26,633 -

Port Utilities (10,110) 10,110 -

Depreciation Expense (10,085) - (10,085)

Impairment (2,396) - (2,396)

General Administration (17,829) 17,829 -

Asset Maintenance (22,334) 22,334 -

Finance Costs (3,139) - (3,139)

Security and Safety (2,330) 2,330 -

Other Expenses (209) 209 -

Environmental Expenses (2,043) 2,043 -

Employee Benefits Expense - (32,082) (32,082)

Contracts and Services - (29,908) (29,908)

Utilities - (10,224) (10,224)

Materials and Supplies - (7,691) (7,691)

Government Charges - (3,820) (3,820)

Insurance - (1,479) (1,479)

Other Expenses - (1,458) (1,458)

Profit before income tax 38,068 - 38,068
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  The Directors have concluded that the financial 

statements present fairly the Authority’s financial 

position, financial performance and cash flows and 

that it has complied with applicable standards.

(c) Basis of measurement
  The financial statements have been prepared on the 

accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost 

convention.

(d) Functional and presentation currency
  These financial statements are presented in 

Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the 

nearest thousand dollars ($000) unless otherwise 

stated.

(e) Use of estimates and judgements
  The preparation of financial statements requires 

management to make judgements, estimates and 

assumptions that affect the application of accounting 

policies and the reported amounts of assets, 

liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may 

differ from these estimates.

  Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed 

on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 

estimates are recognised in the period in which the 

estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

  Information about assumptions and estimation 

uncertainty that have a significant risk of resulting in 

a material adjustment within the next financial year 

are included within the following notes:

 Note 13 – Provision for impairment of receivables

  The Authority assesses impairment of receivables 

on an ongoing basis. Evidence is identified and 

evaluated whether it indicates a receivable balance 

is uncollectable. Assumptions are made regarding 

the likelihood and magnitude of receivables deemed 

uncollectable.

 Note 15 – Impairment

  The Authority assesses impairment at the end of 

each reporting period by evaluating the conditions 

and events specific to the Authority that may be 

indicative of impairment triggers. Recoverable 

amounts of relevant assets are reassessed using 

value-in-use calculations which incorporate various 

key assumptions.

 Note 18 – Employee benefits

  For the purpose of measurement, AABB119: 

Employee Benefits defines obligations for short-

term employee benefits as obligations expected 

to be settled wholly before 12 months after the 

end of the annual reporting period in which the 

employees render the related service. The company 

expects most employees will take their annual leave 

entitlements within 24 months of the reporting 

period in which they were earned, but this will not 

have a material impact on the amounts recognised 

in respect of obligations for employee leave 

entitlements. 

 Note 18 (d) – Defined benefit plan

  Various actuarial assumptions are required when 

determining the Authority’s superannuation 

obligations. These assumptions and the related 

carrying amounts are discussed in note 18(d).

 Note 18 – Provision for remediation

  Various assumptions are required in determining 

the Authority’s remediation obligations, including the 

extent of remediation to be undertaken in relation to 

dismantling and removing assets no longer deemed 

fit for use.

 Note 22 – Operating lease commitments – as lessor

  The Authority has entered into commercial property 

leases on some of its buildings and land and has 

determined that it retains all the significant risks and 

rewards of ownership of these buildings and land and 

has thus classified the leases as operating leases.

NOTE 2 – Summary of significant 
accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied 

consistently to all periods presented in these financial 

statements unless otherwise stated.

(a) Revenue recognition
  Revenue is measured at the fair value of 

consideration received or receivable. Revenue is 

recognised for the major business activities as 

follows:
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 (i) Rendering of services
   Revenue from services rendered is recognised 

in proportion to the stage of completion of the 

transaction at the reporting date. Where the 

contract outcome cannot be measured reliably, 

revenue is recognised only to the extent of the 

expenses recognised that are recoverable.

 (ii) Interest
  Interest income is recognised as it accrues.

 (iii) Rental income
   Rental income is recognised in the statement of 

comprehensive income on a straight-line basis 

over the lease term. Lease incentives granted are 

recognised as an integral part of the total rental 

income.

 (iv) Royalties for Regions Grant income
   Royalties for Regions funds are recognised as 

revenue at fair value in the period in which the 

Authority obtains control over the funds. The 

Authority obtains control of the funds at the time 

the funds are deposited into the Authority’s bank 

account.

(b) Finance income and expenses
  Finance income comprises interest income on funds. 

Interest income is recognised as it accrues.

  Finance expenses include interest expenses on 

borrowings and finance charges payable under 

finance leases.

  Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable 

to the acquisition, construction or production of a 

qualifying asset are recognised in the statement of 

comprehensive income.

(c) Income Tax
  The Authority operates within the National Tax 

Equivalent Regime (NTER) whereby an equivalent 

amount in respect of income tax is payable to the 

Department of Treasury (WA). The calculation of the 

liability in respect of income tax is governed by NTER 

guidelines and directions approved by Government.

  As a consequence of participation in the NTER, the 

Authority is required to comply with AASB 112 Income 

Taxes.

 

  Income tax expense comprises current and deferred 

tax. Income tax expense is recognised except to the 

extent that it relates to items recognised directly in 

equity or in other comprehensive income.

 (i) Current Tax
   Current tax is the expected tax payable on the 

taxable income for the year, using tax rates 

enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting 

date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect 

of previous years.

 (ii) Deferred Tax
    Deferred tax is recognised in respect of 

temporary differences between the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities for financial 

reporting purposes and the amounts used for 

taxation purposes. The measurement of deferred 

tax reflects the tax consequences that would 

follow the manner in which the Authority expects, 

at the end of the reporting period, to recover or 

settle the carrying amounts of its assets and 

liabilities.

   Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that 

are expected to be applied to the temporary 

differences when they reverse, based on the laws 

that have been enacted or substantively enacted 

at the reporting date.

   Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset 

if there is a legally enforceable right to offset 

current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate 

to taxes levied by the same tax authority on the 

same taxable entity.

   A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused 

tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary 

differences, to the extent that it is probable that 

future taxable profits will be available against 

which they can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are 

reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced 

to the extent that it is no longer probable that the 

related tax benefit will be realised.

(d) Trade and lease receivables
  Trade debtors are recognised and carried at the 

original invoice amounts less an allowance for 

any uncollectable amounts. Debtors are generally 

settled within 30 days except for property rentals, 

which are governed by individual lease agreements.

FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2017
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  The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an 

ongoing basis and any receivables identified as 

uncollectable are written-off against the allowance 

account. The allowance for uncollectable amounts 

(doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective 

evidence that the Authority will not be able to collect 

the debt.

  A finance lease receivable is recognised for leases 

of property, plant and equipment which effectively 

transfers to the lessee substantially all of the 

risks and benefits incidental to legal ownership of 

the leased asset. The lease receivable is initially 

recognised as the amount of the present value of the 

minimum lease payments receivable at the reporting 

date plus the present value of an unguaranteed 

residual value expected to accrue at the end of the 

lease term.

  Finance lease payments are allocated between 

interest revenue and reduction of the lease receivable 

over the term of the lease in order to reflect a 

constant periodic rate of return of the net investment 

outstanding in respect of the lease with interest 

revenue calculated using the interest rate implicit in 

the lease and recognised directly in the Statement of 

Comprehensive Income.

(e) Inventories
  Inventories consist of stores which are measured at 

the lower of cost and net realisable value.

 Spare parts
  The Authority holds a variety of spare parts to ensure 

business continuity should plant or equipment 

require servicing or repairs. The size, nature and 

value of these items vary. Additionally, some of 

the contracts held with entities shipping out of the 

port require the Authority to hold critical spares for 

these purposes. This policy refers to those spares 

accounted for as inventory as “operating spares” and 

those accounted for as Property, Plant and Equipment 

(“PPE”) as “capital spares”.

 Capital spares
  Capital spares are spare parts, servicing equipment 

and stand-by equipment with an expected useful life, 

once put into use, of greater than one year. Where 

the expected useful life of the asset, once put into 

use, is less than one year such items should be 

accounted for as inventory and are not capital spares 

regardless of value or whether they can only be used 

in connection with a specific piece of PPE.

  Capital spares are to be classified as either a 

separate component asset or attributed to an existing 

asset.

  A component is an identifiable part of an item of 

PPE with a cost that is significant in relation to the 

total cost of the asset. The Authority considers an 

asset to be significant, and therefore a component, 

if it is greater than 5% of the value of the larger 

asset to which it relates. A component asset is to be 

depreciated over the shorter of its useful life and the 

life of any larger asset to which it relates.

  Non-component assets classified as capital spares 

are to be allocated to and depreciated over the life 

of the asset to which they relate. Spares held for 

maintenance contract to service assets that are not 

under the control of the Authority are not considered 

as capital spares even though expected useful life, 

once put into use, is more than a year. Spares not 

considered as capital spares are accounted for as 

operating spares.

 Operating spares
  Operating spares are generally smaller in value and 

have an expected useful economic life that is less 

than capital spares. They are often consumed in the 

production process, or in support activities such as 

maintenance. If a spare does not meet the definition 

of a capital spare it shall be accounted for as an 

operating spare and therefore as inventory.

(f) Property, plant and equipment
 (i) Recognition and measurement:
   Items of property, plant and equipment costing 

more than $5,000 are measured at cost less 

accumulated depreciation and accumulated 

impairment losses. Items of property, plant and 

equipment costing $5,000 or less are immediately 

expensed to the Statement of Comprehensive 

Income.
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    Cost includes expenditure that is directly 

attributable to the acquisition of the assets.  

The cost of self-constructed assets includes  

the following:

  •  Cost of materials and direct labour:

   •  Any other costs directly attributable to bringing 

the asset to a working condition for its intended 

use;

  •  When the Authority has an obligation to remove 

an asset or restore the site, an estimate of the 

costs of dismantling and removing the item and 

restoring the site on which it was located; and

  • Capitalised borrowing costs

   Purchased software that is integral to the 

functionality of the related equipment is 

capitalised as a part of that equipment.

   When parts of an item of property, plant and 

equipment have different useful lives, they 

are accounted for as separate items (major 

components) of property, plant and equipment.

   Gains and losses on disposal of an item of 

property, plant and equipment are determined by 

comparing the proceeds from disposal with the 

carrying amount of property, plant and equipment 

and are recognised within “other income” in the 

Statement of Comprehensive Income.

 (ii) Subsequent costs
   Subsequent expenditure is capitalised on when 

it is probable that the future economic benefits 

associated with the expenditure will flow to the 

Authority and its cost can be measured reliably. 

Ongoing repairs and maintenance are expensed 

as incurred.

 (iii) Depreciation
   Items of property, plant and equipment are 

depreciated from the date that they are installed 

and are ready for use, or in respect of internally 

constructed assets, from the date that the asset is 

completed and ready for use.

   Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of 

property, plant and equipment less the estimated 

residual value using the straight-line basis over 

the estimated useful life. Depreciation is generally 

recognised in the statement of comprehensive 

income, unless the amount is included in the 

carrying amount of another asset. Leased assets 

are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term 

and the useful life unless it is reasonably certain 

that the Authority will obtain ownership by the end 

of the lease term. Land is not depreciated.

    The estimated useful lives of each class of 

depreciable asset are as follows:

Buildings and improvements 4 – 50 years

Breakwaters 22 – 50 years

Inner and outer harbour 

channels and basins
20 – 100 years

Navigational aids 10 years

Berths and jetties 10 – 40 years

Port infrastructure, plant and 

equipment
3 – 40 years

Minor plant and equipment 2 – 20 years

Office furniture and equipment 2 – 15 years

Motor vehicles 4 – 10 years

   Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual 

values are reviewed at each reporting date.

 (iv) Impairment
   Property, plant and equipment and infrastructure 

are tested for any indication of impairment at each 

reporting date. Where there is an indication of 

impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. 

Where the recoverable amount is less than the 

carrying amount, the asset is written down to 

the recoverable amount and an impairment loss 

is recognised. As the Authority is a not for profit 

entity, unless an asset has been identified as 

a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the 

higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell 

and depreciated replacement cost.

   The risk of impairment is generally limited to 

circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is 

materially understated or where the replacement 

cost is falling. Each relevant class of asset is 

reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated 

depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of 

consumption or expiration of the asset’s future 
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economic benefit and to evaluate any impairment 

risk from falling replacement costs.

   Intangible assets not yet available for use are 

tested for impairment at each balance date 

irrespective of whether there is any indication of 

impairment.

   All impairment losses are recognised in the 

Statement of Comprehensive Income. An 

impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be 

related objectively to an event occurring after the 

impairment loss was recognised. An impairment 

loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s 

carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 

amount that would have been determined, net of 

depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment 

loss had been recognised.

(g) Leases
 (i) Leased assets:
   Assets held by the Authority under leases which 

transfer to the Authority substantially all the 

risks and rewards of ownership are classified as 

finance leases.

   On initial recognition, the leased asset is 

measured at an amount equal to the lower of its 

fair value and the present value of the minimum 

lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, 

the asset is accounted for in accordance with the 

accounting policy applicable to that asset.

   Assets held under other leases are classified as 

operating leases and are not recognised in the 

statement of financial position.

 (ii) Lease payments:
   Payments made under operating leases are 

recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 

Income on a straight line basis over the term 

of the lease. Lease incentives received are 

recognised as an integral part of the total lease 

expense, over the term of the lease.

   Minimum lease payments made under finance 

leases are apportioned between the finance 

expense and the reduction of the outstanding 

liability. The finance expense is allocated to each 

period during the lease term so as to produce a 

constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining 

balance of the liability. Contingent lease payments 

are accounted for by revising the minimum lease 

payments over the remaining term of the lease 

when the lease adjustment is confirmed.

 (iii)  Determining whether an arrangement contains a 
lease

   At the inception of an arrangement, the Authority 

determines whether such an arrangement 

contains a lease. This will be the case if the 

following two criteria are met:

  •  The fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent 

on the use of a specific asset or assets; and

  •  The arrangement contains a right to use the 

asset or assets.

   At inception or upon reassessment of the 

arrangement, the Authority separates the 

payments and other consideration required by 

such an arrangement into those for the lease and 

those for other elements on the basis of their 

relative fair values. If the Authority concludes for 

a finance lease that it is impracticable to separate 

the payments reliably, then an asset and a liability 

are recognised at an amount equal to the fair 

value of the underlying asset.

(h) Non derivative financial instruments 
  In addition to cash, the Authority has three categories 

of non-derivative finance instruments:

 • Loans and receivables;

 • Held to maturity investments; and

 • Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

  Refer to Note 21 for further information on the 

classification of financial instruments. Financial 

assets and financial liabilities are recognised 

when the entity becomes a party to the contractual 

provision to the instrument. For financial assets, this 

is equivalent to the date that the Authority commits 

itself to either purchase or sell the asset (i.e. trade 

date accounting is adopted).

  Initial recognition and measurement is at fair value. 

The transaction cost or face value is equivalent to the 

fair value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised 

cost using the effective interest method.
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  The fair value of short term receivables and payables 

is the transaction cost or the face value because 

there is no interest rate applicable and subsequent 

measurement is not required as the effect of 

discounting is not material.

  The value of the provision for impairment loss is 

assessed using an analysis of historical data to 

determine the level of risk and subsequent recovery 

of debts based on the age of the amounts outstanding. 

Bad debts are written off when formally recognised 

as being irrecoverable.

  Trade and other receivables are stated at cost less 

impairment losses.

 (i) Payables
   Payables, including trade creditors, amounts 

payable and accrued expenses, are recognised 

for amounts to be paid in the future for goods and 

services received prior to the reporting date. The 

carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as they 

are generally settled within 30 days.

 (ii) Borrowings
   All borrowings are initially recognised at cost, 

being the fair value of the consideration received 

less directly attributable transactions costs. 

Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost 

using the effective interest rate method.

   Gains and losses are recognised in the statement 

of comprehensive income when the liabilities are 

derecognised, as well as through the amortisation 

process.

   Borrowing costs are expenses as incurred unless 

they relate to qualifying assets.

(i) Employee benefits
 (i) Short-term employee benefits
   Short-term employee benefits are expensed 

as the related service is provided. A liability is 

recognised for the amount expected to be paid if 

the Authority has a present legal or constructive 

obligation to pay this amount as a result of 

past service provided by the employee and the 

obligation can be estimated reliably.

 

 (ii) Other Long-term employee benefits
   The liability for annual and long service leave 

expected to be settled within 12 months after the 

balance date is recognised and measured at the 

undiscounted amounts expensed to be paid when 

the liabilities are settled. Annual and long service 

leave expected to be settled 12 months after the 

balance date is measured at the present value of 

amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities 

are settled. Leave liabilities are in respect of 

services provided by employees up to the balance 

date.

   When assessing expected future payments 

consideration is given to expected future 

wage and salary levels including non-salary 

components such as employer superannuation 

contributions. In addition, the long service leave 

liability also considers the history of employee 

departures and periods of service.

   The expected future payments are discounted to 

present value using market yields at the balance 

date on national government bonds with terms to 

maturity that match, as closely as possible, the 

estimated future cash outflows.

   All annual leave and unconditional long service 

leave provisions are classified as current 

liabilities as the Authority does not have an 

unconditional right to defer settlement of the 

liability for at least 12 months after the balance 

date.

   Associated payroll on-costs are included in the 

determination of other provisions.

(j) Employee superannuation
  The Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS 

Scheme), a defined benefit lump sum scheme, and the 

Superannuation and Family Benefits Act Scheme, a 

defined benefits pension scheme, are now closed to 

new members.

  The Authority is liable for superannuation benefits 

for past years’ service for members for the 

Superannuation and Family Benefits Act Scheme 

who elected to transfer to the GSS Scheme. The 

Authority also accrues for superannuation benefits 

to the pension scheme for those members who 
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elected not to transfer from that scheme. Monthly 

contributions are also made to Stevedoring 

Employees Retirement Fund (SERF) to satisfy existing 

workforce requirements for waterside employees 

who transferred to the Authority during 1992 and for 

casual staff.

  The superannuation liability for existing employees 

with the pre-transfer service incurred under the 

Superannuation and Family Benefits Act Scheme who 

transferred to the GSS Scheme is provided for at 

reporting date. The Authority’s total superannuation 

liability has been actuarially assessed as at  

30 June 2017.

  Employees who are not members of either the 

Pension or the GSS Scheme became non contributory 

members of the West State Superannuation 

Scheme (WSS), an accumulation fund until 15 April 

2007. From 16 April 2007, employees who are not 

members of the Pension, GSS or WSS Schemes 

become non-contributory members of the GESB 

Superannuation Scheme (GESB Super), a taxed 

accumulation fund. The Authority makes concurrent 

contributions to the Government Employee 

Superannuation Board (GESB) on behalf of employees 

in compliance with the Commonwealth Government’s 

Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 

1992. These contributions extinguish the liability for 

superannuation charges in respect of the WSS and 

GESB Super Schemes.

 Defined benefit plan
  The Authority’s net obligation in respect of the 

defined benefit pension plan is calculated separately 

by estimating the amount of future benefit that 

employees have earned in return for their service 

in the current and prior periods; that benefit is 

discounted to determine its present value, and the 

fair value of any plan assets is deducted. These 

benefits are unfunded.

  The discount rate used is the market yield rate at 

the balance date on national government bonds that 

have maturity date approximating to the terms of the 

Authority’s obligations. The calculation is performed 

by a qualified actuary using the actuarial cost method.

  

  The superannuation expense of the defined benefit 

plan is made of up of the following elements:

 • Current service cost;

 • Interest cost (unwinding of the discount);

 • Actuarial gains and losses; and

 • Past service cost.

  Actuarial gains and losses of the defined benefit plan 

are recognised immediately in other comprehensive 

income in the Statement of Other Comprehensive 

Income.

  The superannuation expense of the defined 

contribution plan is recognised as and when the 

contributions fall due.

(k) Dividends
  Dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in 

which they are declared.

(l) Provisions
  A provision is recognised if, as a result of a 

past event, the Authority has a present legal or 

constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, 

and it is probable that an outflow of economic 

benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If 

the effect of the time value of money is material, 

provisions are determined by discounting the 

expected future cash flows at pre-tax rate that 

reflects current market assessments ofthe time 

value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

  Where discounting is used, the increase in the 

provision due to the passage of time is recognised as 

a finance cost.

(m) Cash and cash equivalents
  Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of 

financial position comprise cash on hand, cash at 

bank and at call deposits with maturities of three 

months or less from the acquisition date that are 

subject to an insignificant risk of change in their 

fair value, and are used by the Authority in the 

management of its short term commitments.

  For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash 

equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as 

defined above.
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(n) Goods and services tax
  Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of 

the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except 

where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable 

from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). In these 

circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of 

the cost of the acquisition of the asset or part of the 

expense.

  Receivables and payables are stated with the amount 

of GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable 

from, or payable to, the ATO is included as a current 

asset or liability in the statement of financial position.

  Cash flows are included in the statement of cash 

flows on a gross basis. The GST components of 

cash flows arising from the investing and financing 

activities which are recoverable from, or payable 

to, the ATO are classified as operating cash flows 

included in receipts from customers or payments to 

suppliers.

(o) Comparative figures
  Comparative figures in the Statement of 

Comprehensive Income have been restated to 

present expenses by nature as noted in Note 1(b). 

The restatement ensures consistency of financial 

information across the two years presented. This is in 

accordance with AASB 101 Presentation of Financial 

Statements. The restatement has not altered expense 

recognition criteria. Therefore there is no change to 

the comparative Statements of Financial Position, 

Changes in Equity and Cash Flows. 

(p)  New accounting standards and interpretations
  The Authority has applied the following Australian 

Accounting Standards effective for annual reporting 

periods beginning on or after 1 July 2016:

 •  AASB 1057 Application of Australian Accounting 

Standards

  This standard lists the application paragraphs for 

each other Standard (and interpretation), grouped 

where they are the same. There is no financial 

impact.

 •  AASB 2014-4 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards – Clarification of 

Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and 

Amortisation (AASB 116 & 138)

  The adoption of the Standard has no financial impact 

for the Authority as depreciation and amortisation is 

not determined by reference to revenue generation, 

but by reference to consumption of future economic 

benefits.

 •  AASB 2015-1 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards – Annual Improvements to 

Australian Accounting Standards 2012-2014 Cycle 

(AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 11, 110, 119, 121, 133, 134,137  

& 140)

  These amendments arise from the issuance 

of International Reporting Standard Annual 

Improvements to IFRS 2012-2014 Cycle in September 

2014 and editorial corrections. The Authority has 

determined that the application of the Standard has 

no financial impact.

 •  AASB 2015-2 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards Disclosure Initiative: 

Amendments to AASB101 (AASB 7, 101, 134  

& 1049)

  This Standard amends AASB 101 to provide 

clarification regarding the disclosure requirements 

in AASB 101. Specifically, the Standard proposes 

narrow-focus amendments to address some of the 

concerns expressed about existing presentation and 

disclosure requirements and to ensure entities are 

able to use judgement when applying a Standard in 

determining what information to disclose in their 

financial statements.  There is no financial impact.

 •  AASB 2015-6 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards Extending Related Party 

Disclosures to Not-for-Profit Sector Entities 

(AASB 10, 124, 1049)

  The amendments extend the scope of AASB 124 to 

include application by not-for profit public sector 

entities.  Implementation guidance is included to 

assist application of the Standard by not-for-profit 

public sector entities. There is no financial impact.

 •  AASB 2015-10 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards-Effective Date 

Amendments to AASB 108 & AASB 128
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  This Standard defers the mandatory effective date 

(application date) of amendments to AASB 10 & AASB 

128 that were originally made in AASB 2014-10 so 

that the amendments are required to be applied for 

annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 

January 2018 instead of 1 January 2016.  There is no 

financial impact.

 •  AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities

  This Standard clarifies and simplifies the income 

recognition requirements that apply to not-for-

profit (NFP) entities, more closely reflecting the 

economic reality of NFP entity transactions that 

are not contracts with customers.  Timing of 

income recognition is dependent on whether such a 

transaction gives rise to a liability, or a performance 

obligation (a promise to transfer a good or service), 

or, an obligation to acquire an asset.  The Authority 

has not yet determined the application or the Notes to 

the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 

2017 potential impact of the Standard.

  Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards 
not yet operative

  The Authority has not applied early any of the 

following Australian Accounting Standards that 

have been issued that may impact the Authority. 

Where applicable, the Authority plans to apply 

these Australian Accounting Standards from their 

application date.

 •   AASB 9 Financial Instruments (December 2010) 

and associated Amending Standards (applicable 

for annual reporting periods commencing on or 

after 1 January 2018).

  This standard will be applicable retrospectively 

(subject to provisions on hedge accounting 

outlined below) and include revised requirements 

for the classification and measurement of 

financial instruments and revised recognition and 

derecognition requirements for financial instruments 

and simplified requirements for hedge accounting. 

  The key changes made to accounting requirements 

include:

 –  simplifying the classifications of financial assets 

into those carried at amortised cost and those 

carried at fair value;

 

 –  simplifying the requirements for embedded 

derivatives;

 –  allowing an irrevocable election on initial 

recognition to present gains and losses on 

investment in equity instruments that are not 

held for trading in other comprehensive income. 

Dividends in respect of these instruments that are 

a return on investment can be recognised in profit 

or loss and there is no impairment or recycling on 

disposal of the instrument;

 –  upfront accounting for expected credit loss;

 –  new model for hedge accounting that will allow 

greater flexibility in the ability to hedge of non-

financial items’.

 •   AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

(applicable to annual reporting periods 

commencing on or after 1 January 2018)

  When effective, this Standard will replace the current 

accounting requirements applicable to revenue with 

a single, principles-based model. Except for a limited 

number of exceptions, including leases, the new 

revenue model in AASB 15 will apply to all contracts 

with customers as well as non-monetary exchanges 

between entities in the same line of business to 

facilitate sales to customers and potential customers.

  The core principle of the Standard is that an entity 

will recognise revenue to depict the transfer of 

promised goods or services to customers in an 

amount that reflects the consideration to which 

the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for the 

goods or services. To achieve this objective, AASB 15 

provides the following five-step process:

 - identify the contract(s) with a customer;

 -   Identify the performance obligations in the 

contract(s);

 -  determine the transaction price;

 -  allocate the transaction price to the performance 

obligations in the contract(s); and

  -  recognise revenue when (or as) the performance 

obligations are satisfied.
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The transitional provision of this standard permit an 

entity to either; restate the contracts that existed in 

each prior period presented per AASB 108: Accounting 

policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors 

(subject to certain practical expedients in AASB15); 

or recognise the cumulative effect of retrospective 

application to incomplete contracts on the date of 

initial application. There are also enhanced disclosure 

requirements regarding revenue.

  Although the Directors anticipate that the adoption 

of AASB 15 may have an impact on the Authority’s 

financial statements, it is impracticable at this stage 

to provide a reasonable estimate of such impact.

  •   AASB 16 Leases (applicable to annual reporting 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019).

  When effective, this Standard will replace the current 

accounting requirements applicable to leases in 

AASB 117 Leases and related Interpretations. AASB 

16 introduces a single lessee accounting model that 

eliminates the requirement for leases to be classified 

as operating or financing leases.

  The main changes introduced by the new Standard 

are as follows:

 –  simplifying the classifications of financial assets 

into those carried at amortised cost and those 

carried at fair value;

 –  recognition of a right-to-use asset and liability for 

all leases (excluding short-term leases with less 

than 12 months of tenure and leases relating to 

low-value assets);

 –  depreciation of right-to-use assets in line with 

AASB 116: Property, plant and equipment in profit 

or loss and unwinding of the liability in principal 

and interest components;

 –  inclusion of variable lease payments that depend 

on an index or rate in the initial measurement of 

the lease liability using the index or rate at the 

commencement date;

 –  application of a practical expedient to permit 

a lessee to elect not to separate non-lease 

components and instead account for all 

components as a lease; and

 –  inclusion of additional disclosure requirements.

  The transitional provision of AASB 16 allow a lessee 

to wither retrospectively apply the Standard to 

comparatives in line with AASB 108 or recognise the 

cumulative effect of the retrospective application as 

an adjustment to opening equity on the date of initial 

application.

  The Authority is yet to undertake a detailed 

assessment of the impact of the above standards. 

 •   AASB 136 Impairment of Assets (applicable to 

annual reporting periods commencing on or after 

1 January 2018)

  When effective, this standard will remove references 

to using depreciated replacement cost as a measure 

of value in use for not-for-profit entities. In addition, 

the standard clarifies that assets that are not held 

primarily for their ability to generate net cash inflows 

are typically specialised assets held for their service 

capacity and their recoverable amount is expected to 

be materially the same as fair value as determined 

by current replacement cost valuation under AASB 13 

Fair Value Measurement.
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NOTE 3 Expenses by nature

Operating expenses are presented on the face of the income statement using a classification based on the nature of 

expenses (see note 1(b)). 

NOTE 4

Revenue
2017  

($'000)

Restated* 
2016  

($'000)

Revenue consists of the following items: 

Rendering of services

Charges on ships 46,642 43,973

Charges on cargo 71,860 74,300 

Interest revenue 2,111 2,371

Rentals and leases 10,432 12,199

Total revenue 131,045 132,843 

NOTE 5

Other income 2017  
($'000)

Restated* 
2016  

($'000)

Other income consists of the following items:

Net gain/(loss) on sale of property, plant and equipment (315) (69) 

Sale of electricity and water 5,251 4,930 

Other 2,970 2,646

Total other income 7,906 7,507

NOTE 6

Depreciation 2017  
($'000)

2016  
($'000)

Channels, dredging, breakwaters and navigation aids 2,058 2,125 

Buildings and improvements 1,689 1,870

Plant and equipment 2,544 3,034

Berths, jetties and infrastructure 2,227 3,056

Total depreciation 8,518 10,085

*2016 comparatives have been restated. Refer to note 1(b) for more information.
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NOTE 7

Employee benefits expense 2017  
($'000)

Restated* 
2016  

($'000)

Wages and salaries 29,296 27,526

Superannuation 2,809 2,579

Increase/(decrease) in:

 Accrued Wages (328) 673

 Accumulated days off 139 6

 Annual leave (318) 433

 Long service leave (362) 777

 Personal leave (1,410) 88

Total employee benefits 29,826 32,082

NOTE 8

Finance costs 2017  
($'000)

2016  
($'000)

Interest paid 2,606 3,139

Total finance costs 2,606 3,139 

NOTE 9

Other expenses 2017  
($'000)

Restated* 
2016  

($'000)

Other employee related costs 1,848 1,458

Other 301 -

Total other expenses 2,149 1,458

*2016 comparatives have been restated. Refer to note 1(b) for more information.
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NOTE 10

Income tax expense 2017  
($'000)

2016 
 ($'000)

Recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 

Current tax expense

Current income tax expense 12,229 11,061

Adjustment for prior periods - 255

Total current tax expense 12,229 11,316

Deferred tax (income)/expense 

Origination and reversal of temporary differences 6 368

Adjustments for prior periods - (187) 

Total deferred tax (income)/expense 6 181

Total income tax expense 12,235 11,497 

Income tax benefit recognised in other comprehensive income

Deferred tax benefit recognised in other comprehensive income (16) (18)

Numerical reconciliation between tax expense and pre-tax 
net profit

Profit for the period 28,429 26,571

Total income tax expense 12,235 11,497

Profit excluding income tax 40,664 38,068

Income tax using the statutory tax rate of 30% (2016:30%) 12,199 11,420

Non-deductible expenses 36 9

12,235 11,429

Under/(over) provision in prior years - 68

Income tax expense 12,235 11,497
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Statement of  
Financial Position

Statement of  
Comprehensive Income

Deferred income tax expense 2017 
 ($’000)

2016  
($’000)

2017  
($’000)

2016 
 ($’000)

Deferred tax liabilities

Accelerated depreciation for tax purposes (4,029) (3,593) (436) 511

Current finance lease receivable (4,561) (6,148) 1,587 1,753

Future dredging (623) (643) 20 20

Others (1,043) (827) (216) 184

(10,256) (11,211) 

Deferred tax assets 

Employee benefits 2,382 2,915 (533) 465

Accelerated depreciation for accounting purposes 7,679 7,843 (164) (454)

Project pool expenditure - - - (2,640)

Other 694 763 (69) (20)

Gross deferred tax assets 10,755 11,521

Set-off of deferred tax liabilities

Pursuant to set-off provisions (10,256) (11,211)

Net deferred tax assets 498 310

Deferred tax income 189 (181)

Current tax liabilities
The current tax liability of $1.624 million (2016: $1.953 million) represents the amount of income taxes payable in 

respect of current and prior financial periods.

NOTE 11

Dividends 2017 
 ($'000)

2016  
($'000)

Final dividends in respect of the previous financial year (i) 6,279 4,695

Interim dividends in respect of the current financial year (ii) - 10,966 

6,279 15,661

In accordance with the Government Financial Policy, WA Ports are required to pay dividends of 75% (2016: 65%) of 
after tax profits.

(i)  A final dividend of $6.279 million (2016: $4.695 million) was declared in respect of the financial results for the year 
ended 30 June 2016. No interim dividend was paid for the year ended 30 June 2017 (2016: $10.966 million).

(ii)  In accordance with Government Financial Policy, WA Ports were required to pay a dividend of 65% of after tax 
profits. In previous years this was paid in two tranches, 75% via an interim dividend prior to year-end, and the 
remaining 25% final dividend after year end. Due to recent amendments in the Government Financial Policy an 
interim dividend is not required to be paid for the year ended 30 June 2017. Instead a full final dividend will be 
paid subsequent to year end at the revised dividend rate of 75% of after tax profit. In accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards, the final dividend relating to the financial results for the year ended 30 June 2017 has not 
been provided as it is expected to be declared by the Board and approved by Government after the reporting date. 
A final dividend based on the audited financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2017 is to be paid by 31 

December 2017.
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NOTE 12
2017  

($'000)
2016  

($'000)

(i)  Cash and cash equivalents

Bank deposits 82,288 71,939

Cash deposits 14,523 11,585

Cash and cash equivalents in the Statement of Cash Flows 96,811 83,524 

(ii)  Other financial assets 

Fixed deposits - 2,326

- 2,326

NOTE 13
2017  

($'000)
2016 

 ($'000)

Trade and other receivables

Current

Receivables 14,230 14,538

Less: allowance for impairment of receivables (207) (207)

14,023 14,331

Other debtors

Accrued revenue 863 519

Finance lease receivable 2,748 5,293

Prepayments 277 141

17,911 20,284

Non current

Finance lease receivable 12,454 15,202

12,454 15,202 

Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of 

receivables:

Balance at start of year 207 -

Impairment recognised in the income statement - 207

Bad debts written off against provision - -

Balance at the end of year 207 207

The Authority does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to receivables.

The Authority does not hold any financial assets that had to have their terms renegotiated that would have otherwise 

resulted in them being past due or impaired.

At 30 June, the ageing analysis of trade debtors past due but not impaired is as follows: 
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Gross  
2017 

($'000)

Gross  
2016 

($'000)

Not more than 3 months 853 1,081

More than 3 months but less than 6 months 68 5

More than 6 months but less than 1 year - -

More than 1 year - -

921 1,086 

As at 30 June 2017, trade receivables were impaired by $0.207 million (2016: $0.207 million) as Management 

decided that the debt was irrecoverable.

NOTE 14

Inventories 2017  
($'000)

2016  
($'000)

Current

Material stores, spares for maintenance – at cost 3,545 2,822 

3,545 2,822

Non current

Material stores, spares for maintenance – at cost 3,120 2,850

3,120 2,850

Total inventories 6,665 5,672
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NOTE 16

Trade and other payables 2017  
($'000)

2016 
 ($'000) 

Trade payables 3,745 3,648

Other payables 1,104 2,533

GST payable 132 298

Accrued wages 531 859

Unexpired income 1,081 821 

6,593 8,159

NOTE 17 – Interest bearing borrowings
This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Authority’s interest bearing borrowings,  

which are measured at amortised cost. For more information about the Authority’s exposure to interest rate risk, 

see Note 21(i).

2017  
($'000)

2016  
($'000)

Current liabilities

Special borrowings 7,414 7,880

7,414 7,880

Non-current liabilities

Special borrowings 26,313 33,727

26,313 33,727

Financing arrangements

The Authority has access to the following lines of credit:

Total facilities available

 Special borrowings 33,727 41,607

33,727 41,607

Facilities utilised at reporting date:

Special borrowings 33,727 41,607

33,727 41,607 

 Facilities not utilised at reporting date:

 Special borrowings - -

- -

Significant terms and conditions
Special borrowings of $33.727 million (2016: $41.607 million) relate to the former Esperance Port Authority, from 

the WA Treasury Corporation’s Portfolio Lending Arrangements (PLA) and are financed at fixed rates of interest; 

therefore changes in interest rates will have no impact on the profitability of the Authority.
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Interest rate risk exposure
The Authority’s exposure to interest rate risk on the interest bearing borrowings and the effective weighted average 

interact rate at year end by maturity periods is set out in the following table:

1 year 
or less 

($'000)

1 to 2 
years 

($'000)

2 to 3 
years 

($'000)

3 to 4 
years 

($'000)

4 to 5 
years 

($'000)

Over 
5 years 

($'000)
Total 

($'000)

2017
Interest bearing borrowings:

Fixed interest rate borrowings 7,414 7,689 7,090 4,029 1,310 6,195 33,727

7,414 7,689 7,090 4,029 1,310 6,195 33,727

Weighted average interest rate:

Fixed interest rate borrowings 6.31% 6.31% 6.31% 6.31% 6.31% 6.31% 6.31%

2016
Interest bearing borrowings:

Fixed interest rate borrowings 7,880 7,414 7,689 7,090 4,029 7,505 41,607

7,880 7,414 7,689 7,090 4,029 7,505 41,607

Weighted average interest rate:

Fixed interest rate borrowings 6.18% 6.18% 6.18% 6.18% 6.18% 6.18% 6.18%
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NOTE 18

Provisions 2017  
($'000)

2016  
($'000)

Current

Employee benefits provision

Accumulated days off 20 253

Annual leave (a) 2,445 2,561

Long service leave (b) 2,838 2,743

Superannuation (d) 66 70

Time in lieu 245 1

Sick leave 70 1,098

Other provisions

Employment on-costs 491 589

Removal of asbestos - 33

6,175 7,348

Non-current

Employee benefits provision

Long service leave (b) 714 920

Superannuation (d) 740 735

Sick leave 39 421

Employment on-costs 64 86

1,557 2,162

(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as 
there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 
12 months after balance date. Assessments indicate that actual 
settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows:

Within 12 months of balance date 1,571 1,622

More than 12 months after balance date 874 939 

2,445 2,561

(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current 
where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at 
least 12 months after balance date. Assessments indicate that 
actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows:

 Within 12 months of balance date 2,528 2,350

More than 12 months after balance date 1,024 1,313

3,552 3,663
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Provisions continued 2017  
($'000)

2016  
($'000)

(c) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities 
gives rise to the payment of employee on-costs including 
workers compensation premiums and payroll tax. The provision 
is measured at the present value of expected future payments.

Reconciliation of movement in provisions recognised in the 
Statement of Financial Position are:

Employee Benefits Provision:

Opening carrying amount 8,802 7,701

Additional provisions made during the period (2) 3,333

Amounts used during the period (1,622) (2,232)

Closing carrying amount 7,178 8,802

Other Provisions:

Opening carrying amount 708 512

Additional provisions made during the period 66 209

Amounts used during the period (221) (13) 

Closing carrying amount 553 708

(d) Defined benefit superannuation plans

The following is a summary of the most recent financial position 
of the Pension Scheme related to the Authority calculated in 
accordance with AASB 119 Employee Benefits. 

The amounts recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income are:

Current service cost:

Interest cost 18 21

Actuarial loss 51 59

69 80 

Amounts recognised in the Statement of Financial Position are:

Present value of unfunded obligations 806 806 

 806 806 

Reconciliation of movement in the present value of the unfunded 
obligations recognised in the Statement of Financial Position:

Opening balance 806 794

Current service cost:

Interest cost 18 21

Actuarial loss 52 59

Actuarial gains - -

Benefits paid (70) (68)

806 806
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NOTE 19  Nature and purpose of reserves

The Asset Revaluation Reserve was used to record historic increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-

current assets. The balance relates to valuation of land and plant and equipment. All land and plant and equipment 

previously revalued are now carried at a deemed cost. This reserve is not available for the effects of decrements in 

the value of Land and Plant and Equipment.

NOTE 20 Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows

Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the 

Statement of Financial Position as follows: 

2017 
 ($'000)

2016  
($'000)

Cash and cash equivalents 96,811 83,524 

96,811 83,524

Reconciliation of profit after income tax equivalent to net 
cash flow provided by/(used in) operating activities

Profit after income tax equivalents 28,429 26,571

Adjustments for:

 Depreciation expense 8,518 10,085

 Impairment - 2,396 

 Interest income (2,111) (2,371)

 Interest expense 2,606 3,139

 Net (gain)/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 315 69 

 WIP written off - 52 

 Income tax expense 12,235 11,497

49,992 51,438 

Operating profit before changes in working capital

(Increase)/decrease in assets:

 Trade and other receivables 198 1,221 

 Inventories (993) (425)

(Decrease)/increase in liabilities:

 Trade and other payables (1,492) 175

 Provisions (1,778) 1,076

GST liability (167) (133) 

45,760 53,352 

Interest paid (2,664) (3,143)

Income taxes paid (12,735) (13,678) 

Net cash from operating activities 30,361 36,531 
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NOTE 21 Financial Instruments

(i) Financial Risk Management Objective and Policies
  The Authority’s principal financial instruments 

comprise cash and cash equivalents, other financial 

assets (term deposits), receivables, payables, and 

interest bearing borrowings. The Authority has 

limited exposure to financial risks. The Authority’s 

overall risk management program focuses on 

managing the risks identified below.

 Market Risk
  Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices 

such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates 

will affect the Authority’s income or the value of its 

holdings of financial instruments. The Authority does 

not trade in foreign currency and is not materially 

exposed to other price risks.

  The Authority’s exposure to market risk for changes 

in interest rates relates primarily to its long-term 

debt obligations, cash and cash equivalents and term 

deposits. The Authority’s borrowings are all obtained 

through the Western Australian Treasury Corporation 

(WATC) and are at fixed rates with varying maturities 

or at variable rates.

  

  The risk is managed by WATC through portfolio 

diversification and variation in maturity dates. The 

Authority’s cash and cash equivalents are mainly 

deposited in the banks which earned variable interest 

rates. Term deposits are held with fixed interest 

rates, typically for a period of three to twelve months.

  Other than detailed in the interest rate sensitivity 

analysis table below, the Authority has limited 

exposure to interest rate risk because it has no 

borrowings other than WATC borrowings and cash 

and cash equivalents.

  The Authority’s policy is to manage its finance 

costs using a mix of fixed and variable debt with 

the objective of achieving optimum returns whilst 

managing interest rate risk to avoid uncertainty and 

volatility in the market place.

  The Authority constantly analyses its interest rate 

exposure. Within this analysis consideration is 

given to potential renewals of existing positions and 

alternative financing structures.

 Sensitivity Analysis
  At the balance sheet date, if interest rates have 

moved as illustrated in the table below, with all 

other variables held constant, the effect would be as 

follows:

Interest rate risk – Variable 
instruments Carrying Amount 

($'000)

+0.5%  
Change Profit 

($'000)

(0.25%)  
Change Profit 

($'000)

2017

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 96,811 484 (242)

96,811 484 (242) 

2016 

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 83,524 418 (209)

83,524 418 (209)
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Credit risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the 

Authority’s receivables defaulting on their contractual 

obligations resulting in financial loss to the Authority. 

The Authority measures credit risk on a fair value basis 

and monitors risk on a regular basis. With respect 

to credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents 

and term deposits, the Authority’s exposure to credit 

risk arises from the counter party, with a maximum 

exposure equal to the carrying amount of these 

instruments. The cash and cash equivalents and term 

deposits are held with banks and financial institution 

counterparties, which are rated AA- to AA+, based on 

Standard & Poor’s ratings.

As at 30 June 2017, one customer represents 18% 

(2016: 22%) of outstanding trade receivables, where 

the balance of debtors is made up of various individual 

immaterial debtors.

The Authority operates predominantly within the 

shipping and cargo handling industry and accordingly 

is exposed to risks affecting that industry. The 

maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date in 

relation to each class of recognised financial asset is 

the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of 

any provisions for impairment, as shown in the table at 

Note 21 (ii).

The Authority follows stringent credit control and 

management procedures in reviewing and monitoring 

debtor accounts and outstanding balances as 

evidenced by the historical aged debtors balances. In 

addition, management of receivable balances includes 

frequent monitoring thereby minimising the Authority’s 

exposure to bad debts. For financial assets that are 

either past due or impaired, refer to Note 13 ‘Trade and 

other receivables’.

The Authority’s credit risk management is further 

supported by rental agreements and sections 116 & 117 

of the Port Authorities Act 1999. Section 116 refers to 

the liability to pay port charges in respect of vessels 

and section 117 refers to the liability to pay port 

charges in respect of goods. Port charges are defined 

in section 115.

Liquidity risk
The Authority’s objective is to maintain a balance 

between continuity of funding and flexibility through 

the use of cash reserves and its borrowing facilities. 

The Authority manages its exposure to liquidity risk 

by ensuring appropriate procedures are in place to 

manage cash flows, including monitoring forecast cash 

flow to ensure sufficient funds are available to meet its 

commitments.

The table below reflects the contractual maturity of 

financial liabilities. The contractual maturity amounts 

are representative of the undiscounted amounts at the 

balance sheet date. The table includes both interest 

and principal cash flows. An adjustment has been 

made where material.
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Financial liabilities
Carrying 

amount 
($'000)

6 months  
or less 

($'000)

6-12  
months 
($'000)

1-2  
years 

($'000)

2-5  
years 

($'000)

More than 
5 years 

($'000)

2017

Trade and other payables 4,849 4,638 211 - - -

Interest-bearing borrowings 33,727 4,752 4,566 9,131 14,396 7,090

38,576 9,390 4,777 9,131 14,396 7,090

2016

Trade and other payables 6,181 6,181 - - - -

Interest-bearing borrowings 41,607 5,324 4,938 9,317 21,791 8,827 

47,788 11,505 4,938 9,317 21,791 8,827

The risk implied from the values shown in the table below reflects a balanced view of cash inflows and outflows. Trade 

payables, and other financial liabilities mainly originate from the financing of assets used in the ongoing operations 

such as property, plant and equipment and investments in working capital e.g. inventories and trade receivables. 

These assets are considered in the Authority’s overall liquidity risk.

Risk associated with the liability on borrowings is reduced by the Authority paying a guarantee charge. This charge 

guarantees payment to the WATC by the Government for outstanding borrowings in case of default.

(ii) Categories of financial instruments
Set out below are the categories and fair values of the Authority’s financial instruments:

2017  
($'000)

2016  
($'000)

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 96,811 83,524 

Trade and other receivables 14,886 14,850 

Other financial assets              - 2,326 

111,697 100,700 

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables (4,849) (4,638) 

Interest-bearing borrowings (37,128) (46,679) 

(41,977) (51,317) 

69,720 49,383

The fair value of the interest bearing borrowings was provided by the WA Treasury Corporation using a lending curve, 

based on the various maturing dates for each loan, less a margin.
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NOTE 22

Commitments 2017  
($'000)

2016 
 ($'000)

(i)  Operating leases receivable

Future minimum rentals receivable for operating leases at 
reporting date:

 Within 1 year 6,701 6,804

 Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 17,009 18,953

 Later than 5 years 71,101 73,010 

94,811 98,767 

(ii) Finance leases receivable

Future minimum rentals receivable for finance leases at 
reporting date:

 Within 1 year 2,748 5,293

 Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 4,685 6,150

 Later than 5 years 7,769 9,052 

15,202 20,495 

(iii) Capital expenditure commitments

Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital 
expenditure additional to the amounts reported in the financial 
statements, are payable as follows:

 Within 1 year 1,794 1,655

1,794 1,655

NOTE 23

Remuneration of auditors 2017  
($'000)

2016  
($'000)

Remuneration received, or due and receivable, by the Auditor 
General for:

Audit of the financial statements 125 123

125 123
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NOTE 24  Related Parties

The Authority is a wholly-owned public sector entity that is controlled by the State of Western Australia.

Related parties of Southern Ports include:

•  all Ministers and their close family members, and 

their controlled or jointly controlled entities;

•  all senior officers and their close family members, 

and their controlled or jointly controlled entities;

•  other departments and statutory authorities, 

including their related bodies, that are included 

in the whole of government consolidated financial 

statements;

•  associates and joint ventures of an entity that are 

included in the whole of Government consolidated 

financial statements; and

•  The Government Employees Superannuation Board 

(GESB).

(i) Transactions with key management personnel
  The Authority has determined that key management 

personnel include Cabinet Ministers and senior 

officers of the Authority. However, the Authority is 

not obligated to reimburse for the compensation of 

Ministers and therefore no disclosure is required. The 

disclosures in relation to Ministers’ compensation 

may be found in the Annual Report on State Finances.

Key management personnel compensation comprised the following:

Key management personnel compensation 2017  
($'000)

Short-term employee benefits 1,992

Post-employment benefits 253

2,245

The Authority had no other related party transactions 

with key management personnel or their close family 

members or their controlled or jointly controlled entities. 

(ii)  Significant transactions with Government-related 
entities

 Significant transactions include:

 •  Defined contribution Superannuation payments  

to GESB ($2.298 million), 

 •  Defined benefit superannuation payments to 

GESB (Note 18).

 •  Interest bearing borrowings from WATC  

(Notes 17).

 •  Dividends paid to the state government (Note 11).

  No comparative figures have been disclosed as this is 

the first year of application of the relevant accounting 

standard.
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NOTE 25 Contingent Liablilities

Contingent considerations

Contaminated sites
Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003, the Authority is 

required to report known and suspected contaminated 

sites to the Department of Water and Environment 

Regulation (DWER) Contaminated Sites Branch.

In accordance with the Act, DWER classifies these sites 

on the basis of the risk to human health, the environment 

and environment values. Where sites are classified 

as “contaminated – remediation required” or possibly 

“contaminated – investigation required”, the Authority 

may have a liability with respect to investigation or 

remediation expenses if the polluter cannot be identified 

or does not have the resources to undertake the 

investigation or remediation work.

Bunbury
Five lots within the Inner Harbour Port Reserve, four 

of which were previously reported to the DWER’s 

Contaminated Sites Branch, have now been identified as 

contaminated at the date of this report.

Three of the lots comprise the land previously occupied 

by a coal fired power station that was operated for 

approximately 40 years by Western Power. Verve Energy 

(formerly Western Power) has previously conducted 

monitoring of the site using ground water bores. Future 

development of the area for bulk exports may require 

removal of contaminated soils to an appropriate disposal 

site. The three lots are suitable for “industrial uses”.

The fourth lot contains an area shared by Alcoa and 

South 32 (Worsley Alumina) for caustic soda storage 

and transfer to rail tankers. The lease holders have 

undertaken monitoring and reporting activities as 

the caustic contamination has been caused by their 

combined activities over a number of decades. The 

fourth lot also contains a ground water monitoring bore 

that contains hydrocarbon contamination of unknown 

genesis. The bore is located within an area now leased 

solely by South32 which in conjunction with the Authority 

continues monitoring and investigation of remediation 

options for the bore. The DWER Contaminated Sites 

Branch has been kept informed on this matter. 

The Authority has continued sampling 6 monthly from 

its shallow ground water monitoring bores as part of a 

port wide monitoring network. The bores adjacent to the 

above lot in conjunction with other monitoring programs 

will provide early warning of any potential spread of the 

contamination. 

The site bordering the Cristal lease on Lot 962 

Koombana Drive has been classified as potentially 

contaminated – investigation required. A Mine Closure 

Plan was prepared by Cristal and the plan includes 

future remediation of the area bordering the lease as the 

contamination is substantially as a result of decades of 

mineral sands transport, processing and storage.

A comprehensive survey of the Outer Harbour land area 

was conducted in April 2017 to collect data on potential 

contamination from low level gamma radiation from 

historic and ongoing handling and storage of mineral 

sands. The Outer Harbour was reported to the DWER 

in 2008 as potentially contaminated but to date has not 

been given a classification by DWER. 

The future relocation of port operations from the Outer 

Harbour will require the existing lease holders to 

remediate contamination on their lease areas caused by 

their activities so this should not impose any liability onto 

the Authority. 

During the 17/18 year, the Authority intends engaging a 

Contaminated Sites Auditor to assess the contaminated 

sites and develop a formal investigations and 

management plan.

At this stage, any future financial liability that may fall 

to the Authority to monitor or remediate contamination 

caused by the activities of the third parties referenced 

above is uncertain.

Albany
Previously, the Authority was advised by the DWER of 

the identification of one suspected contaminated site. 

A contract was awarded in May 2012 for preliminary 

site investigation. A report on the investigation was 

submitted to DWER in May 2013 for review. DWER has 

not yet determined that remediation is required or if any 

usage limitations will be placed on the land. Evidence has 

however indicated that the site is an affected site rather 

than a source site with the contamination migrating 
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from another location. This determination will affect any 

potential financial effect on the Authority. Uncertainties 

relating to the amount or timing of any associated 

outflows remain.

In September 2012, the Authority received a DWER 

notice of another known or suspected contaminated site 

within the Authority’s jurisdiction. The notice identifies 

that further investigations are required to adequately 

delineate and characterise the nature and extent of 

the contamination, which relates to a fuel terminal and 

grain port facility, both of which are currently tenanted. 

Investigations have not commenced and therefore any 

potential financial effect on the Authority, and the amount 

and timing of any outflows is unknown. Under the Act, 

investigations are not required to commence until a 

timeframe has been specified by the DWER and the form 

of the investigation required to be undertaken has been 

described.

The Authority reported a known contaminated site to 

the DWER on 30 May 2017 after receiving laboratory 

confirmation of suspected bonded asbestos containing 

material that was uncovered by weather events 

in historic in-situ material on Lot 1576 (sub lot 22, 

portion) Princess Royal Drive, Albany.  The Authority 

has requested a stop clock on the DWER regulated 

timeframes for assessment whilst it undertakes further 

characterisation of the spatial and vertical extent of 

the asbestos containing material across the sub lot 

location in-line with regulatory requirements.  The 

field component of the characterisation work was 

completed prior to 30 June 2017.  However, the results 

of the characterisation will not be known until August 

2017.  The results will then be forwarded to the DWER 

for their assessment against appropriate guidelines.  

The outcome of the DWER’s assessment will inform as 

to whether there is an obligation, or not, to undertake 

remedial management actions, or potentially further 

investigations. 

The Authority, being a Government Trading Entity, is 

not eligible for support from the Contaminated Sites 

Management Account.

Esperance
In November 2013, the Authority received a DWER Notice 

of Classification for Esperance Harbour and its seabed. 

This notice requires further investigations to adequately 

delineate and characterise the nature and extent of 

the contamination, which relates to the movement of 

international vessels and discontinued loading practices. 

Investigations are ongoing and it is expected that the 

cost to 2017/2018 budget will be in the order of $250K, 

but the total potential financial effect on the Authority 

is unknown. No timeframe has been specified by the 

DWER indicating the issue is low priority, but the Port 

Authority is expected to continue progressing the 

recommendations of the investigation.

Other contingent liabilities
In addition to the liabilities included in the financial 

statements, there is the following contingent liability:

The Authority has a contract to load bulk nickel for BHP 

Billiton Nickel West. BHP Billiton Nickel West currently 

does not export its bulk nickel from Esperance however 

this situation may change. The bulk loader is currently 

not operational and will require funding for repairs 

to render it operational. The status of the Authority’s 

obligations is not determined and insufficient information 

is currently available to determine the financial impact, 

if any, in the event of a claim under the contract 

arrangements.
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NOTE 26 Events after the reporting period

On 26 July 2017, the Authority called for expressions 

of interest for voluntary redundancies from Esperance 

port landside restricted zone employees. The 

relevant employees had until 4 August 2017 to lodge 

an expression of interest. The Authority is currently 

processing the expressions of interest received. As such, 

an estimate of the financial effect is not quantifiable at 

this stage.

On 9 August 2017, First Quantum Minerals Ltd announced 

its intention to place the Ravensthorpe Nickel Operation 

on care and maintenance. It is expected that this event 

will materially impact operations at the Authority’s 

Esperance port in FY18 and in any subsequent years 

that the Ravensthorpe Nickel Operation is on care and 

maintenance. An estimate of the financial effect of this 

event is not quantifiable at this time.
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In the opinion of the Directors of the Southern Ports 

Authority:

(a)  the financial statements and notes for the period 

ending 30 June 2017 comply with Australian 

Accounting Standards; and

(b)  the financial statements and notes give a true and fair 

view of the financial position of the Southern Ports 

Authority as at 30 June 2017 and of its performance, 

as represented by the results of its operations and its 

cash flows for the financial year ended on that date; 

and

(c)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the 

Southern Ports Authority will be able to pay its debts 

as and when they become due and payable; and

(d)  the financial notes and statements are in accordance 

with the Port Authorities Act 1999.

This declaration is signed in accordance with a resolution 

of the Directors on 25 August 2017.

R COLE

Chair

DIRECTORS DECLARATION

N PREMJI

Deputy Chair

Western Australia 25 August 2017

Directors Declaration 

In the opinion of the Directors of the Southern Ports Authority: 

(a) the financial statements and notes for the period ending 30 June 2017 comply with 
Australian Accounting Standards; and 

(b) the financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the financial position of 
the Southern Ports Authority as at 30 June 2017 and of its performance, as 
represented by the results of its operations and its cash flows for the financial year 
ended on that date; and 

(c) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Southern Ports Authority will be able 
to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable; and 

(d) the financial notes and statements are in accordance with the Port Authorities Act 
1999. 

This declaration is signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 25 August 
2017. 

R COLE 
Chair 

N PREMJI 
Deputy Chair 

Western Australia 25 August 2017 

Directors Declaration 

In the opinion of the Directors of the Southern Ports Authority: 

(a) the financial statements and notes for the period ending 30 June 2017 comply with 
Australian Accounting Standards; and 

(b) the financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the financial position of 
the Southern Ports Authority as at 30 June 2017 and of its performance, as 
represented by the results of its operations and its cash flows for the financial year 
ended on that date; and 

(c) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Southern Ports Authority will be able 
to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable; and 

(d) the financial notes and statements are in accordance with the Port Authorities Act 
1999. 

This declaration is signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 25 August 
2017. 

R COLE 
Chair 

N PREMJI 
Deputy Chair 

Western Australia 25 August 2017 
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Corporate Directory

Directors

R Cole – Chairman

N Premji – Deputy Chair

P Chalmer

P Iancov

C Porter

A Willinge

G Wood

Chief Executive Officer 
Nicolas Fertin

Chief Financial Officer 
Brian Granville

Auditors 
Office of the Auditor General, Western Australia

Internal Auditors 
Protiviti Risk and Business Consulting

ABOUT THE 
ANNUAL REPORT

Feedback 
Your comments and suggestions on the content and style of 
the Southern Ports Authority Annual Report are important to 
ensure the Report continues to meet the requirements of our 
Stakeholders. Please submit your comments via the contact 
methods listed above.

Contact Details

Street Address: 

Level 4, 679 Murray Street 

West Perth WA 6005

Postal Address: 

PO Box 1049 

West Perth WA 6872

T 9235 8000 

W www.southernports.com.au 

E enquiries@southernports.com.au

Southern Ports Authority 

ABN 30 044 341 250
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